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The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of Semperian 
PPP Investment Partners Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year 
ended 31 March 2019. 

Principal Activity 

The Company is a leading UK investor in the Public Private Partnership (“PPP”) market. The Company’s 
principal activity is to invest shareholder funds in a portfolio which is directly or indirectly involved in social 
infrastructure projects, with the majority of its investments situated within the United Kingdom. The 
portfolio comprises of a range of public and private partnerships covering six main sectors: 
accommodation, education, health, secured accommodation, utilities and transport. The Company was 
formed in August 2007. The results are set out on page 15.  

Objectives  

The Company aims to invest in and manage PPP assets to provide shareholders with a sustainable return 
which is closely correlated to the Retail Price Index and which generates returns at a premium to index 
linked gilts. The Company largely invests in PPP assets where the United Kingdom government, its 
agency or local authority, is typically the client under a long-term concession.  
 
The Company focuses on providing quality operational management to ensure that its Public-Sector 
clients are provided with proactive and involved service providers, so that agreed service levels are met. 
For most assets, the Company sub-contracts its maintenance and service provision to external specialist 
facility managers for the life of the concession. Across the portfolio a team of national managers actively 
manage the relationship between the Public-Sector client and the service providers to ensure there is 
early identification and resolution of matters.  
 
The Company’s strategy of active operational management is a key differentiator from that of most other 
PPP investors and aims to ensure that the Group retains the skills and resources necessary to manage 
diversified portfolio risk.  
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Financial Review and results for the year 
 
The Group’s consolidated profit before tax for the year is £67.3m (2018: £127.4m profit). The consolidated 
financial statements of the Group are reported under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as adopted by the European Union.  
 
Services revenue shows an increase of 6.7% this year to £348.3m (2018: £326.3m). This increase is 
primarily due to the acquisition of South Manchester Healthcare (Holdings) Limited and Parking (Glasgow) 
Limited in Q2 2018, which now contribute a full year of revenues to the consolidated result. Service 
revenue is closely correlated to the Retail Price Index and other indices and is also sensitive to changes 
in contracted services that occur from time to time. A 4.6% increase in Services costs has been recognised 
in the same period. 
 
In 2019, the discount rate applied in the valuation of the Group’s associate investments has remained at 
7.25% (2018: 7.25%). The Group closely monitors the movement in market discount rates and considers 
its effect when applying criteria for identifying acquisition and divestment opportunities. The Group 
continues to apply a discounted cash flow methodology to value its investments. Discount rates for 
valuation purposes are obtained from third party independent sources.     
 
The Group manages a long-term cash hedging strategy to mitigate its sensitivity to changes in the cash 
flow requirements of its underlying debt servicing. This is achieved by entering into long term financial 
derivative contracts. The majority of the Group’s derivative contracts are interest rate swaps (paying fixed 
interest and receiving variable interest which is determined by UK and Euro LIBOR rates).  Under IFRS 
the Group is required to value these derivative contracts at an arm’s length market rate. A net gain (pre-
tax) of £2.7m (2018: £128.8m gain) has been recognised in the year as a result of valuing these 
derivatives in line with current market expectations of movements in LIBOR rates as at 31 March 2019.  
 
Portfolio Performance 
 
The Group’s key performance measures are based on Financial and Non-financial performance 
indicators.  
 
Financial  KPIs (unaudited)  
 
The key financial measurements used are net operating cash flow from investment activities, the nominal 
internal rate of return (IRR) of the investment portfolio and the average annual cash yield to date. 
Individual projects have specific key performance indicators (e.g. Unitary charge deductions) which are 
monitored at the asset level.  
 
For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group performance has achieved: 

 
� Net operating cash inflow from investment activities of *£109.9m (2018: *£113.6m),  
� Nominal IRR of 8.43% (2018: 8.43%), 
� Annualised cash yield of 5.30% (2018: 8.24%), 
� Minimal non-recoverable deductions across Group companies 

 
*  Excludes cash retained at the project level that is included in the Group Cash Flow Statement 

 
The Group continues to meet the financial covenants contained within its long-term funding arrangements.  
 
The Directors do not propose the payment of a dividend (2018: £nil). 
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Non - Financial  KPIs  
 
Semperian is committed to ensuring the health and safety of its employees and continues to invest in its 
employees ensuring they are able to perform their functions safely, fully equipped with the appropriate 
skills and knowledge. External health and safety audits and refresher training on a three-year cycle 
support this commitment. Semperian actively encourages and works with third party contractors to assist 
them to meet the high standards adopted by the Group. The Group aims to deliver services with no work 
related RIDDORS (Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences) and maintain an 
accident rate of less than 5 incidents per annum. During the year, no RIDDORS were recorded and there 
were 4 reported accidents. 
 
Corporate Structure and Governance  
 
The Company is tax resident in the United Kingdom as befits its predominately United Kingdom based 
Public Sector asset portfolio and is registered in Jersey. The Group operates through a board of directors 
(“the Board”) supported by Remuneration, Audit and Investment Committees. Members of the Board and 
the Committees are appointed by shareholders with an interest of 10% or more in the Company.  
 
The Board has an experienced operational management and finance team who monitor the Group and 
its subcontractors’ compliance with contracts as well as reporting financial and operational performance 
to the Board. Internal audit and risk management processes and systems are also in place to monitor, 
report and address any significant issues identified. 
 
Current Outlook  
 
The Group manages a substantial investment portfolio and actively manages the performance of the 
assets to maximise value derived from the portfolio. The Group retains a well-motivated highly skilled 
workforce which is dedicated to those activities.  
 
Operations  
 
The Group’s contingency plans were tested during the year when the failure of Carillion plc (“Carillion”) 
as one of the Group’s facility contractors occurred. The Group has worked extensively through this period 
with its Asset Manager, Imagile Group to ensure that no disruption occurred to the essential public-sector 
services on six affected projects held by the Group.  The corporate failure of Carillion and the 
corresponding response of the Group to initially stabilise the situation and then to select and transition the 
services to new Facility Management operators underpins the often-overlooked positive attributes of PFI’s 
risk transfer from public to private sector. 
 
Investments 
 
During the year the Group made strategic acquisitions in Cory Riverside, a recycling, resource 
management and energy recovery company, and increased the underlying number of assets in 
established Accommodation and Healthcare areas, through acquisitions in Holyrood Student 
Accommodation Holdings Limited and Fife Hospital.  The Group continues to seek out further acquisition 
opportunities to enhance returns and lengthen the unexpired contractual cashflows of the Group.   
 
The Group remains fully resourced with a committed management team and well positioned to continue 
the delivery of investors’ expectations. 
 
Brexit risk 
 
The directors have assessed the impact, on the Group and its subsidiaries and affiliate undertakings, 
arising from the uncertainty attached to the outcome of the Brexit negotiations and the shape of any 
eventual withdrawal deal with the EU.  
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At this stage the impact cannot be fully understood, and political and economic commentators differ 
significantly in their assessment of the potential severity of the risks associated with each potential 
outcome. 
 
As the Group substantially operates in the United Kingdom the directors do not expect the Group will be  
directly impacted by changes to future trading arrangements, with the EU and the rest of the world, 
however the directors continue to monitor any potential impact arising from the wider financial markets 
and the Group and its subsidiary supply chain. 
 
 
Principal Risks and Uncertainties 
 
The identification, assessment and management of risks and uncertainties are integral to the running of 
the business. The Group’s principal risks and uncertainties are reviewed on a regular basis and internal 
controls have been established to manage those risks. An integral part of the Semperian risk management 
process is the “Watch List” which is presented to the Board, by the Executive, on a regular basis. This list 
is used to highlight those projects within the Group’s portfolio where increased management resources 
have been allocated to correct or prevent failure, and where there is a possibility of loss and/or impact on 
the portfolio returns. The list is reviewed regularly and any projects identified for inclusion remain on the 
list until satisfactory performance has been established for an appropriate duration.  
 
The risk management process has been designed to identify and manage rather than eliminate material 
risks to the achievement of business and strategic objectives, whilst also recognising that any such 
process only provides reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss. 
 

 
Photo: Torbay Schools Services Limited 

The principal risks and uncertainties that could have a material adverse effect on the business, which 
remain the same as last year, are listed and discussed below. Not all of these factors are controllable. In 
addition, other factors besides those listed may affect the Group. 
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued) 

(a) Management and reliance on service providers 

The Group is reliant on its own internal controls in respect of its investment management and 
management of part of its asset portfolio. The Group also relies on other service providers for the 
remainder of its asset portfolio. Failure of the Group’s internal controls or failure to deliver by its service 
providers may have an impact on the performance of the Group. The Group monitors its own internal 
controls and regularly reviews service provider performance. 

(b) Investment  

Making additional investments in the Group’s portfolio entails certain risks. Detailed due diligence, 
including, but not limited to, legal, financial and taxation, insurance and technical due diligence, is 
undertaken on potential acquisitions to mitigate aspects of these risks. Investment decisions are then 
subject to review and approval by the Investment Committee and the Board. The due diligence process 
may fail to identify risks and expected results may not subsequently be achieved. 
 
The Group’s investments include co-investments with third parties. Such investments involve additional 
risks which may not be present in investments that do not involve a co-investor, including the possibility 
that a co-investor may at any time have economic or business interests or goals that are not consistent 
with those of the Group, may be in a position to take or block action in a manner inconsistent with the 
Group’s objectives, or may have financial difficulties, may become insolvent or default on their obligations. 
The Investment Management Division oversees the Group’s interest in assets which are managed by 
third parties to ensure performance, compliance and other relevant issues are appropriately addressed. 

(c) Financial  

The Group relies on its financial counterparties to provide various facilities such as debt funding, hedges, 
deposit facilities and insurance. The Group relies on both equity and debt finance to fund the Group’s 
activities. The availability of debt finance on acceptable terms can affect the Group’s ability to acquire 
additional investments. The Group has debt facilities available for the expected life of the concessions. 
Deposit takers and insurance providers’ creditworthiness are monitored on a regular basis. 

(d) Project termination  

The Group invests in projects that deliver concession requirements in accordance with a Project 
Agreement. The possibility exists that a concession may terminate due to failure to deliver to agreed 
service levels. The concession may also terminate for other reasons including, but not limited to, client 
default, force majeure and voluntary termination. Representatives of the Group manage each concession 
arrangement in varying capacities to ensure performance, compliance and other relevant issues are 
appropriately addressed.  

(e) Subcontractors  

Projects within the Group’s investment portfolio rely on subcontractors to deliver services to enable the 
project companies to meet their concession requirements. Failure of subcontractors to provide agreed 
levels of service would affect the project companies’ ability to fulfil their service concession requirements, 
impacting the Group’s reputation and exposing the Group to potential financial penalties. Mitigating 
activities include securing agreements to transfer risks to an insurer or relevant subcontractor where 
possible, as well as regular review and assessment of subcontractor performance. Contingency plans 
have been developed to procure alternative suppliers, where appropriate. 

(f) Life cycle costs 

During the period of a concession, the underlying project assets will incur various costs including repair, 
refurbishment, replacement and insurance. Changes in the expected project lifespan, project costs or 
inflation may result in life cycle costs being different from those anticipated. Components of these risks 
are mitigated by transfer to an insurer or relevant subcontractors. Each project’s performance is monitored 
to minimise cost over-runs and to maximise potential savings.  
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued) 

(g) Inflation and deflation 

Due to the long-term nature of concession arrangements, large proportions of project companies’ 
revenues and expenditures are subject to indexation. Increases above and decreases below the expected 
inflation assumption would result in a respective beneficial or detrimental effect on investor returns. 
Mitigating activities include matching by the project companies of their indexation of contractual revenues 
to their indexation of contractual costs where possible. 

(h) Interest rate  

The Group’s borrowings and cash deposits are exposed to interest rate fluctuations. The majority of the 
Group’s borrowings are economically hedged to minimise interest volatility. Rate fluctuations on cash 
deposits are partially mitigated through the deposit term, however this economic risk is inherent and 
mitigation options are limited. 

(i) Insurance 

Project companies within the Group’s portfolio may be responsible for maintaining insurance cover, 
including but not limited to buildings, contents and third party cover. Typically, the project entity takes the 
risk that the cost of maintaining the insurance may be greater than expected and that in some 
circumstances it may not be able to obtain the necessary insurance. Where insurance is not obtainable, 
the Public-Sector client may, in certain circumstances, arrange to insure the relevant risks itself. The 
Group has in place a pooled insurance programme to mitigate the insurance risks. 

(j) Changes in taxation law or practice and general  law 

The Group’s investments are long-term concessions and can be affected by changes in local legislation, 
regulatory framework, economic factors and taxation. Where possible, components of these risks are 
mitigated through individual Project Agreements. In instances where this may not be possible, changes 
may have an adverse impact on the Group’s financial performance. The reviews undertaken by the 
Government could lead to changes in legislation or codes of practice which the Group may have to comply 
with. 

(k) Financial instruments 

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group and the exposure of the Group to 
interest rate risk, inflation risk, currency risk, market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk are provided in Note 
4 to the financial statements. 

 

  
Photo: Cruciform Services Limited 
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Directors  

The directors and chairman who held office during the year and subsequently are as follows: 
 
A L Tennant  Chairman 
A E Birch Executive 
J M Simpson Executive 
D J McMullan Non-Executive (resigned 14 December 2018)    
W R Doughty  Non-Executive 
P Shukla Non-Executive 
K M Hill Non-Executive 
A L Tennant  Non-Executive (appointed as alternative to K M Hill 25 May 2018) 
P G Dowdall Non-Executive (appointed 14 December 2018) 
C P Rule Non-Executive (appointed 14 December 2018) 
A C M Rhodes Alternate to A E Birch      
J N Ord Non-Executive (appointed 16 June 2018, resigned 14 December 2018) 
 Alternate to D J McMullan (resigned 14 December 2018)   
 Alternate to C P Rule (appointed 14 December, resigned 31 December 2018) 
D N Forss Alternate to P Shukla    
C J Simpson Alternate to C P Rule (appointed 1 April 2019) 
 Alternate to P G Dowdall (appointed 1 April 2019) 
  
The company secretaries who held office during the year and subsequently are as follows: 
 
M Saunders   (resigned 31 July 2018) 
S Taberner   (appointed 1 August 2018)  
Crestbridge Corporate Services Limited   
 
There were no contracts of any significance in relation to the business of the Company in which the 
directors had any interest as defined in the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 at any time during the year. 
The directors had no interest in the company’s share capital.  
 

Directors’ indemnities 

Qualifying third party indemnity provisions were in force for the directors during the financial year ended 
31 March 2019 and at the date of this report are in force for the benefit of the current directors in relation 
to certain losses and liabilities which they may incur (or may have incurred) to third parties in the course 
of their professional duties.  

 

Going concern 

Each PPP project company is funded by third party borrowings which is independent of the funding in 
other projects or the Group. A default in any project company will not cross default the debt in the Group 
or another project company. The Group banking facilities are serviced by cash distributions from project 
companies and the Group model forecasts that the Group will meet its banking covenants for at least 12 
months from the date of these financial statements.  

 
The banking covenants are not directly dependent on the results of the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements. Internal cash forecasts, which have been reviewed by the Directors, support the ongoing 
ability of the Group to meet its debt and other liabilities as they fall due for the foreseeable future, including 
the 12 months following the approval of the accounts. Accordingly, the financial statements have been 
prepared on the going concern basis.  
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Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion 

In our opinion, Semperian PPP Investment Partners Holdings Limited’s group financial statements and company 
financial statements (the “financial statements”): 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the company’s affairs as at 31 March 2019 

and of the group’s profit and the group’s and the company’s cash flows for the year then ended; 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 

as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the company’s financial statements, as applied in 

accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and 
 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991. 

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report, which comprise: the group and 
company balance sheets as at 31 March 2019; the group statement of comprehensive income, the group and 
company cash flow statements, and the group and company statements of changes in equity for the year then 
ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable 

law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the 

financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence 

We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to listed entities, and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

Our audit approach 

Overview 

 

• Overall group materiality: £6,345,000 (2018: £5,228,000), based on 2.5% of Earnings 
Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA). 

• Overall company materiality: £389,000 (2018: £352,000), based on 1% of Investment 
income. 

• The Group Financial Statements consist of 172 components, 171 of the components have 
been subject to full scope audits, which has meant that 98% of the EBITDA has been 
subject to full scope audits.  

• Treatment of finance debtor and lifecycle provisions: Group. 

• Carrying value of investments: Group. 

• Impairment of Goodwill: Group. 

• Valuation of derivatives: Group. 
 

The scope of our audit 

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the 
financial statements. In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in 
respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are 
inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, 
including evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the directors that represented a risk of material 
misstatement due to fraud.  
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Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the 
audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material 
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect 
on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement 
team. These matters, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit. 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Treatment of Contract assets: Group 

The Group operates a number of PFI (‘Private Finance 
Initiative’) contracts with various Public Sector bodies for 
the design, construction, financing, commissioning and 
maintenance of buildings and other facilities used by such 
bodies. 

The Group recognises amounts due to recompense it for the 
design, construction and financing element of the project 
(including interest) in its balance sheet as a “contract asset”. 
The contract asset consists of finance debtor and lifecycle 
provision components. Each year, the debtor reduces to 
reflect payment via unitary charge funding, to part repay 
design and construction costs and financing expense. The 
intention being that by the end of the arrangement, the 
contract asset is settled in full. 

The determination of the amounts to allocate from the 
unitary charge payment to the imputed interest receivable 
includes some judgement. Given the estimations and the 
size of the balances involved, this is an area of focus. 

In addition, each year, amounts are allocated from the 
unitary charge account to lifecycle provisions, which are 
deducted from the contract asset, to meet future costs.  

This also involves judgement and accordingly is also an area 
of focus.     

Our audit addressed the key audit matter as follows: 

We have reviewed Management’s financial forecast model 
that reflects the finance debtor, interest receivable and 
lifecycle provision components of the contract asset, to 
satisfy ourselves that any movements in these balances have 
been appropriately reflected in the model. 

We tested the allocations from the unitary charge, to 
repayment of the finance debtor, imputed interest receivable 
on the finance debtor and to lifecycle provisions/deferred 
income balance and checked that the allocated amounts 
were recognised consistently across the impacted accounts 
and consistent with Management’s financial forecast model. 
We found the allocations to be accurate. 

We recalculated the imputed interest receivable on the 
finance debtor. We found the calculations to be accurate. 

We tested the lifecycle deferral calculations applied and 
validated that they were consistent with Management’s 
financial forecast model.  

We have also ensured that the actual results, including 
inputs such as inflation, have been appropriately reflected in 
the model and financial statements. 

Carrying value of investments: Group 

The Group has designated its Investments in Associates to 
be accounted for at Fair Value through profit and loss 
account. 

Fair values are determined using the income approach 
which discounts the expected cash flows at an appropriate 
rate. 

The determination of the Fair Value includes some 
judgement, in particular in relation to future cashflows and 
the appropriate discount rate to use. Given the estimations 
and the size of the balances involved, this is an area of focus. 

Our audit addressed the key audit matter as follows: 

In order to assess the appropriateness of the interest rate 
used to discount the future cash flows we compared the 
rates used both to similar entities operating in the same 
market and also to a valuation report prepared by external 
consultants. 

We understood the reasons for significant changes in the 
fair values of individual investments. 

We tested the cashflows used for the assessment of Fair 
Value and validated that they were consistent with 
Management’s financial forecast model. Our testing of this 
model is described in the section above relating to the 
treatment of contract assets. 

From the evidence obtained we found the assumptions and 
methodology used to be appropriate. Based on the work 
performed we found that the assumptions used were 
supported by the evidence we obtained. 

Impairment of Goodwill: Group 

In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 36 Goodwill is 
tested annually for impairment. 

The carrying amount of goodwill is dependent on the stage 
of completion of the underlying service concessions which 
have a finite life. The recoverable amounts of the net assets 
are determined based on discounted cash flow methodology. 

Our audit addressed the key audit matter as follows: 

In order to assess the appropriateness of the interest rate 
used to discount the future cash flows we compared the 
rates used both to similar entities operating in the same 
market and also to a valuation report prepared by external 
consultants. 

We tested the cashflows used for the assessment of Fair 
Value and validated that they were consistent with 
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

These calculations require the use of estimates, including 
projected future cash flows and other future events and the 
determination of an appropriate discount rate. 

Given the judgements and estimations and the size of the 
balances involved, this is an area of focus. 

Management’s financial forecast model. Our testing of this 
model is described in the section above relating to the 
treatment of contract assets. 

From the evidence obtained we found the assumptions and 
methodology used to be appropriate. Based on the work 
performed we found that the assumptions used were 
supported by the evidence we obtained. 

 

Valuation of derivatives - Group 

The Group holds derivatives at Fair Value. 
The determination of Fair Value requires estimates to be 
made of future movements in inflation and interest rates. 

The Group has utilised an external valuer to value the 
derivatives but is responsible for the assumptions made in 
the valuation process.  

Given the required estimation and size of the balances 
involved, this is an area of focus.     

Our audit addressed the key audit matter as follows: 

We obtained the external valuation report and agreed the 
report to the financial statements. 

We confirmed the details of the derivatives valued to the 
terms of the instruments. 

We re-performed the valuation based on our expectations of 
a reasonable range of assumptions.      

From the evidence obtained we found the assumptions and 
methodology used to be appropriate. Based on the work 
performed we found that the assumptions used were 
supported by the evidence we obtained. 

We determined that there were no key audit matters applicable to the company to communicate in our report. 

How we tailored the audit scope 

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the 
financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the group and the company, the accounting 
processes and controls, and the industry in which they operate. 

Materiality 

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for 
materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the 
nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures 
and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a 
whole.  

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows: 

   Group financial statements Company financial statements 

Overall materiality £6,345,000 (2018: £5,228,000). £389,000 (2018: £352,000). 

How we determined it 2.5% of Earnings Before Interest, Tax, 
Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA). 

1% of Investment income. 

Rationale for 
benchmark applied 

EBITDA is the primary measure used by 
the shareholders in assessing the 
performance of the group, and is a 
generally accepted auditing benchmark. 

The company is an investment company 
its investment income is used by 
shareholders in assessing its performance 
and is a generally accepted auditing 
benchmark. 

For each component in the scope of our group audit, we allocated a materiality that is less than our overall group 
materiality.  

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above 
£317,000 (Group audit) (2018: £261,000) and £19,000 (Company audit) (2018: £18,000) as well as misstatements 
below those amounts that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons. 
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Conclusions relating to going concern 

ISAs (UK) require us to report to you when:  

• the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is 

not appropriate; or  

• the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may 

cast significant doubt about the group’s and company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis 

of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are 

authorised for issue. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters. 

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the 
group’s and company’s ability to continue as a going concern. For example, the terms on which the United Kingdom 
may withdraw from the European Union are not clear, and it is difficult to evaluate all of the potential implications 
on the group’s trade, customers, suppliers and the wider economy.   

Reporting on other information  

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements 
and our auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the 
financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or 
any form of assurance thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent 
material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there 
is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities. 

 

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit 

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities   set out on page 9, the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for 
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the company or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website 
at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report. 

Use of this report 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in 
accordance with Article 113A of the Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving 
these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is 
shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 
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Group 
 

 
Year ended 

31 March 
2019 

 
Year ended  

31 March  
 2018 

restated* 
 Note £million £million 
    
Services revenue  348.3 326.3 
Interest from investments 5 18.6 18.6 
Income from contract assets  105.9 112.0 
Income from and movement on associate investments 6 97.0 61.1 
Total income  569.8 518.0 
    
Services costs 7 (298.2) (285.2) 
Administrative expenses 8 (47.5) (52.5) 
Profit before net finance costs and tax  224.1 180.3 
    
Finance costs 10 (169.8) (195.6) 
Finance income 10 1.4 0.9 
Change in fair value of financial derivatives* 10 11.6 141.8 
Profit before tax  67.3 127.4 
    
Income tax credit / (charge)   11 1.5 (10.4) 
Profit for the year   68.8 117.0 
    
Other comprehensive income:    
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: 
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations 
Fair value of financial derivatives – credit adjustment* 

 
(0.5) 
(8.9) 

 
0.5 

(13.0) 
Deferred tax on financial derivatives – credit adjustment* 1.5 2.2 
Total comprehensive income for the year  60.9 106.7 
    
Attributable to:    
Owners of the parent  64.6 99.2 
Non-controlling interests  (3.7) 7.5 

  60.9 106.7 
 
All results are derived from continuing operations. The accompanying notes on pages 20 to 55 are an 
integral part of these financial statements. 
 
 
*Restatement: The group recognises that movements in credit risk on derivative contracts are required to 
be disclosed through Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) on the adoption of IFRS9, as a result the prior 
year has been restated to reclassify £13.0m loss on the derivative valuation credit adjustment to OCI (see 
note 2(c)).  
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  Attributable to equity  
holders of the parent  

  

Group 
restated 
 

 
Ordinary 

share 
capital 
£million 

 
Share 

Premium 
reserve 
£million 

Cumulative 
translation 

reserve 
£million 

Accumulated 
(losses)/ 

profit  
£million 

Total 
£million 

Non-
controlling 

interests 
£million 

 
Total 

equity 
£million 

        
Balance at 31 March 
2017  1.0 - 4.9 (146.5) (140.6) 8.8 (131.8) 
        
Non-controlling interest 
acquisition on increased 
holding in subsidiary - - - 0.5 0.5 (2.9) (2.4) 
        
        
Non-controlling interest 
on acquisition of 
subsidiary - - - - - 12.7 12.7 
 
Comprehensive 
income:         
Profit for the year  - - - 109.5 109.5 7.5 117.0 
        
Other comprehensive 
income:         
Currency translation  - - 0.5 - 0.5 - 0.5 
        
Fair value of financial 
derivatives – credit 
adjustment net of tax 

- - - (10.8) (10.8) - (10.8) 

Balance at 31 March 
2018 

1.0 - 5.4 (47.3) (40.9) 26.1 (14.8) 

        
Share issue 0.2 51.5 - - 51.7 - 51.7 
        
Non-controlling interest 
acquisition on increased 
holding in subsidiary 

- - - 3.0 3.0 (3.0) - 

        
Comprehensive 
income:   

 
     

Profit for the year - - - 72.5 72.5 (3.7) 68.8 
        
Other comprehensive 
income:         

Currency translation  - - (0.5) - (0.5) - (0.5) 
        
Fair value of financial 
derivatives – credit 
adjustment net of tax  

- - - (7.4) (7.4) - (7.4) 

Balance at 31 March 
2019 

1.2 51.5 4.9 20.8 78.4 19.4 97.8 
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Company 
 

  

 
Ordinary 

share 
capital  
£million 

 
Share 

premium  
£million 

Accumulated 
losses  

£million 

 
Total equity 

£million 
Balance at 31 March 2017   1.0 - (16.6) (15.6) 
(Loss) for the year   - - (1.4) (1.4) 
Balance at 31 March 2018   1.0 - (18.0) (17.0) 
(Loss) for the year   - - (5.6) (5.6)  
Share issue   0.2 51.5 - 51.7 
Share based payment   - - 10.0 10.0 
Balance at 31 March 2019   1.2 51.5 (13.6) 39.1 
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Group 
Year 

ended  
31 March 

2019 

Group  
Year 

ended  
31 March 

2018 

Company 
Year  

ended  
31 March 

2019 

Company 
Year 

ended  
31 March 

2018 
 Note  £million  £million 

restated 
£million  £million 

 

Cash flows from operating activities      

Profit / (Loss) before tax  67.3 127.4 18.0 (1.4) 
Adjustments for:      
Interest from investments 5 (18.6) (18.6) - - 
Dividends from investments  6 (19.5) (20.6) - - 
Amortisation of other investments   3.9 3.6 - - 
Fair value movements on associate 
investments 

 
6 

 
(58.7) 

 
(18.9) 

 
- 

 
- 

Income from contract assets  (105.9) (112.0) - - 
Interest payable and similar charges 10 169.8 195.6 38.9 35.2 
Changes in fair value of derivatives 10 (11.6) (141.8) - - 
Finance income 10 (1.4) (0.9) (38.9) (35.2) 
Amortisation and impairment 12 25.3 24.3 - - 
Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment 

13 4.4 4.5 - - 

Operating cash inflow / (outflow) before 
changes in working capital 

 
 

 
55.0 

 
42.6 

 
18.0 

 
(1.4) 

 

Changes in working capital      

(Increase) in receivables  (5.7) 2.9 (3.5) - 
(Decrease) / Increase in payables  (17.3) 5.9 (14.5) 1.4 
Cash in flow from operations   32.0 51.4 - - 
      

Interest received on bank deposits  10 1.4 0.9 - - 
Cash received from contract assets  210.4 203.1 - - 
Interest paid  (169.9) (195.7) (38.9) (35.2) 
Corporation tax (paid)  (11.6) (1.7) - - 
Net cash inflow / (outflow) from operating 
activities   62.3 58.0 (38.9) (35.2) 

Cash flows from investing activities      
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 13 (0.1) (0.1) - - 
Disposal of property, plant and equipment 13 1.2 - - - 
Interest received from investments 5 18.6 18.6 38.9 35.2 
Receipts from investments 16 5.3 4.0 - 15.6 
Dividend income from associate investments 6 19.5 20.6 - - 
Acquisition of associates 24 (194.1) - - - 
Increased ownership in subsidiary  - (3.0) (132.4) - 
Acquisition of subsidiary net of cash acquired  - (6.1) - - 
Net cash (used in) / generated from 
investing activities   (149.6) 34.0 (93.5) 50.8 
 

Cash flows from financing activities       

Net drawdown / (repayment) of loan and 
borrowings 

 41.5 (75.1) 80.7 (15.6) 

Proceeds from issue of share capital  51.7 - 51.7 - 
Net cash generated from / (used in) 
financing activities   93.2 (75.1) 132.4 (15.6) 
 

     

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   5.9 16.9 - - 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 
year  

  
313.1 

 
296.6 

 
- 

 
- 

Exchange movements  (0.5) (0.4) - - 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year    318.5 313.1 - - 
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1. General information 

Semperian PPP Investment Partners Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a company registered and 
incorporated in Jersey, Channel Islands, and is a United Kingdom tax resident company. The financial 
statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries, together 
referred to as the “Group”. The principal activity of the Group and Company is investing in the PPP market, 
primarily in the United Kingdom. 

2. Key accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. The accounting policies have been applied consistently in the current year.  

(a) Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Companies (Jersey) Law 1991 
applicable to companies reporting under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations, as adopted by the 
European Union in response to the IAS regulation (EC 1606/2002), using the historical cost convention, 
modified to include revaluation of certain financial instruments and investments held at fair value through 
profit or loss. The financial statements are presented in pounds’ sterling, which is the Company’s 
functional currency.  
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS as adopted by the European Union 
requires the Directors to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
policies and the reported amount of assets and liabilities, income and expense. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements 
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the year in which the estimate is 
revised if the revision affects only that year or in the year of the revision and future years if the revision 
affects both current and future years. Note 3 outlines the critical accounting judgements and estimates. 
 
The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they have continued to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting in preparing the annual financial statements.  
 
Each PPP project company is funded by third party borrowings which is independent of the funding in 
other projects or the Group. A default in any project company will not cross default the debt in the Group 
or another project company. The Group banking facilities are serviced by cash distributions from project 
companies and the Group model forecasts that the Group will meet its banking covenants for at least 12 
months from the date of these financial statements.  
 
The banking covenants are not directly dependent on the results of the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements. Internal cash forecasts, which have been reviewed by the Directors, support the ongoing 
ability of the Group to meet its debt and other liabilities as they fall due for the foreseeable future. 
Accordingly, the financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis.  
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2. Key accounting policies (continued) 

(b) Basis of consolidation 

The financial statements of the Group include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 
up to 31 March 2019. Subsidiaries are those entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when the 
Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity 
so as to obtain benefits from its activities, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than half of 
the voting rights. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the financial statements from the 
date that control commences until the date control ceases. 
 
Associates are those entities over which the Group has significant influence. Associate investments are 
designated upon initial recognition to be accounted for at fair value through profit or loss, as prescribed 
under IAS 28.1. See part (d)(i) below for the accounting policy for investments in these entities.  
 
Intra-Group balances and any unrealised gains and losses arising from Intra-Group transactions are 
eliminated in preparing the financial statements. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with 
subsidiaries are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the entity. Unrealised losses are 
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, to the extent there is no evidence of impairment.  
 
All business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. Goodwill represents the 
difference between the cost of acquisition and the share of the fair value of identifiable net assets 
(including intangible assets) of a subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Identifiable intangibles are those 
which can be measured reliably, sold separately or which arise from legal rights regardless of whether 
those rights are separable. Costs consist of the fair values of assets and liabilities.  
 
The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with 
parties external to the Group. Disposals to non-controlling interests result in gains and losses for the 
Group and are recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
(c) Recent accounting developments 

 
The following new standards have been applied for the first time in this year’s financial statements are: 

 
IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’  This standard replaced the guidance in IAS 39. It included 

requirements on the classification and measurement of financial assets and liabilities; 
it also included an expected credit losses model that replaced the former current 
incurred loss impairment model. 

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from 
contracts with customers’ 
 

This standard on revenue recognition.  
 
The April 2016 amendments comprised clarifications of the guidance on identifying 
performance obligations, accounting for licences of intellectual property and the 
principal versus agent assessment (gross versus net revenue presentation).  

 
The classification of the group’s financial instruments remains unchanged on adoption of IFRS9. 
Associate investments and financial derivatives have continued to be fair valued through profit and loss, 
with all other financial instruments being carried at amortised cost.  
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2. Key accounting policies (continued) 

(c) Recent accounting developments (continued) 
 
For those financial instruments carried at amortised cost the group has considered the revisions to the 
impairment model under IFRS 9. The model is now forward looking and brings forward the recognition of 
credit losses. The discount rates used when fair valuing finance receivables on acquisition includes a risk 
premium that includes the risk of default. Thus, credit losses are built into the fair value of the finance 
receivables and intangible assets at the point of acquisition. There have been no events to suggest 
adjustment to this embedded credit loss provisioning. The remaining asset pool has been assessed and 
is not materially adjusted by impairment provisions under the new forward-looking impairment model, 
whether that be through the simplified or general models.  
 
The group recognises that movements in credit risk on derivative contracts is required to be taken through 
Other Comprehensive Income on adoption of IFRS9, as a result the prior year has been restated to 
reclassify £13.0m loss on the derivative valuation credit adjustment to OCI.  
 
During the year, the Company has adopted IFRS15 for the first time, this has resulted in no changes in 
the way in which Unitary payments received under the PFI contracts are allocated as income. The Finance 
Receivables asset and Accrued Life Cycle liability are now treated as a net Contract asset rather than a 
financial asset under IFRS 15. This change has been implemented by way of a prior year adjustment. 
The contract asset at 31 March 2019 has decreased by £192.4m as a result of this netting.  The impact 
on the balance sheet at 31 March 2018 is that the Contract Asset has decreased by £183.5m due to the 
same netting process.  
 
As at 31 March 2019, the following standards applicable to the Group, which have not been applied in 
this financial information, were in issue and endorsed by the EU but not yet effective: 
 
Amendment to IFRS 9,  
Financial instruments’, 
on prepayment features 
with negative compensation 
and modification of financial 
liabilities 

. 

This amendment confirmed two points: 
(1) that reasonable compensation for prepayments can be both negative or positive 
cash flows when considering whether a financial asset solely has cash flows that are 
principal and interest and 
 
(2) that when a financial liability measured at amortised cost is modified without this 
resulting in de-recognition, a gain or loss should be recognised immediately in profit or 
loss. The gain or loss is calculated as the difference between the original contractual 
cash flows and the modified cash flows discounted at the original effective interest 
rate. This means that the difference cannot be spread over the remaining life of the 
instrument which may be a change in practice from IAS 39. 
 

Annual improvements 2015 – 
2017 

These amendments include minor changes to: 
• IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’, – a company remeasures its previously held 
interest in a joint operation when it obtains control of the business. 
• IFRS 11, ‘Joint arrangements’, – a company does not remeasure its previously held 
interest in a joint operation when it obtains joint control of the business. 
• IAS 12, ‘Income taxes’ – a company accounts for all income tax consequences of 
dividend payments in the same way. 
• IAS 23, ‘Borrowing costs’ – a company treats as part of general borrowings any 
borrowing originally made to develop an asset when the asset is ready for its intended 
use or sale. 

Amendments to IAS 28 
‘Investments in associates’, 
on long term interests in 
associates and joint ventures 
 

These amendments clarify that companies account for long-term interests in an 
associate or joint venture to which the equity method is not applied using IFRS 9. 

Amendments to IAS 19, 
‘Employee benefits’ on 
plan amendment, curtailment 
or settlement’ 
 

These amendments require an entity to: 
• use updated assumptions to determine current service cost and net interest for the 
reminder of the period after a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement; and 
• recognise in profit or loss as part of past service cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, 
any reduction in a surplus, even if that surplus was not previously recognised because 
of the impact of the asset ceiling. 
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2. Key accounting policies (continued) 

(c) Recent accounting developments (continued) 
 
IFRS 16 Leases This standard replaces the current guidance in IAS 17. 

Under IAS 17, lessees were required to make a distinction between a finance lease 
(on balance sheet) and an operating lease (off balance sheet). IFRS 16 now requires 
lessees to recognise a lease liability reflecting future lease payments and a ‘right-of-
use asset’ for virtually all lease contracts. The IASB has included an optional 
exemption for certain short-term leases and leases of low-value assets; however, this 
exemption can only be applied by lessees. 
 
For lessors, the accounting stays almost the same. However, as the IASB has updated 
the guidance on the definition of a lease (as well as the guidance on the combination 
and separation of contracts), lessors will also be affected by the new standard. 
. 
Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to 
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 
 

Amendments to IFRS 3 – 
definition of a business 
 

This amendment revises the definition of a business. Application of the current 
guidance is commonly thought to be too complex, and it results in too many 
transactions qualifying as business combinations.  
 

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 
on the definition of material 
 

These amendments to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’, and IAS 8, 
‘Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors’, and consequential 
amendments to other IFRSs: 

i) use a consistent definition of materiality throughout IFRSs and the 

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting; 

ii) clarify the explanation of the definition of material; and 

iii) incorporate some of the guidance in IAS 1 about immaterial 

information.  
 

IFRS 17, ‘Insurance contracts’  
 

This standard replaces IFRS 4, which currently permits a wide 
variety of practices in accounting for insurance contracts. IFRS 17 will fundamentally 
change the accounting by all entities that issue insurance contracts and investment 
contracts with discretionary participation features.  

IFRIC 23, ‘Uncertainty over 
income tax treatments’ 
 

This IFRIC clarifies how the recognition and measurement 
requirements of IAS 12 ‘Income taxes’, are applied where there is uncertainty over 
income tax treatments. 
The IFRS IC had clarified previously that IAS 12, not IAS 37 
‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets’, applies to accounting for 
uncertain income tax treatments. IFRIC 23 explains how to recognise and measure 
deferred and current income tax assets and liabilities where there is uncertainty over a 
tax treatment.  
 
An uncertain tax treatment is any tax treatment applied by an 
entity where there is uncertainty over whether that treatment will be accepted by the 
tax authority. For example, a decision to claim a deduction for a specific expense or 
not to include a specific item of income in a tax return is an uncertain tax treatment if 
its acceptability is uncertain under tax law. IFRIC 23 applies to all aspects of income 
tax accounting where there is an uncertainty regarding the treatment of an item, 
including taxable profit or loss, the tax bases of assets and liabilities, tax losses and 
credits and tax rates.  
 

 
The adoption of the above amendments is not expected to have a material impact on the financial 
statements of the Group.  Specifically with respect to IFRS 16 the group is a lessee on a small number 
of operating leases, predominantly in relation to various offices. These operating leases are not material 
in size and therefore the impact of IFRS16 is expected to be minimal for the Group.      
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2. Key accounting policies (continued) 

(d) Financial instruments  

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognised when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the instrument expire or the asset is transferred and the transfer 
qualifies for derecognition. 

(i) Non-derivative financial instruments 

 
Trade receivables are classified at amortised cost as they are held within a business model to collect 
contracted cash flows. Such receivables are initially recognised at their transaction price, being the 
expected amount of any consideration receivable. Trade receivables continue to be measured at their 
transaction price less any lifetime expected credit losses using the simplified approach for determine 
such losses as permitted by IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”. 
 
The finance receivable is classified as a contract asset and a financial instrument and is carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any lifetime expected credit losses. Income 
from finance receivables is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as a separate line 
item.  
 
Associate investments are designated at fair value through profit or loss. Fair values are determined 
using the income approach which discounts the expected future cash flows attributed to each asset at 
an appropriate rate to arrive at fair values.  In determining the appropriate discount rate, regard is 
given to risk free rates, the specific risks of each investment and the evidence of recent transactions. 
Upon initial recognition, attributable transaction costs are recognised in the profit or loss. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash balances, deposits held at call with banks and other 
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less. Bank overdrafts 
that are repayable on demand are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the Cash 
flow statement. Some of the cash within the group is restricted in its use by the project contract 
conditions, this is typically to ensure enough cash is retained in the project to ensure an amount of 
costs (such as lifecycle costs) can be met. These restrictions are not sufficient to change the 
determination of cash and cash equivalents at a group level. 
 
Borrowings are recognised initially at the fair value of the consideration received, less transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference 
between cost and redemption value being recognised in the profit or loss over the life of the borrowings 
on an effective interest rate basis.  
 

Other non-derivative financial instruments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method less any impairment losses. The effective interest rate method calculates the amortised 
cost of the non-derivative financial instrument and allocates the interest over the life of the instrument.  
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2. Key accounting policies (continued) 

(d) Financial Instruments (continued) 

(ii) Derivative financial instruments 

The Group’s operating subsidiaries hold derivative financial instruments to economically hedge their 
interest rate and inflation risk exposures. All derivatives are recognised initially at fair value with 
attributable transaction costs recognised in profit or loss as incurred. Thereafter, derivatives are 
measured at fair value with changes recognised in profit or loss as part of finance costs. Fair value is 
based on valuations provided by an independent third party valuer. Hedge accounting is not applied 
in these Group accounts.  
 

(e) Intangible assets 

(i) Goodwill 

Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration over the fair value of the Group’s share of the 
identifiable net assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Subsidiaries acquired in a 
single transaction are accounted for as a portfolio.  Goodwill is included in intangible assets, tested 
annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Any impairment is 
recognised immediately through profit or loss. Subsequent reversals of impairment losses for goodwill 
are not recognised.  
 
On acquisition the fair value of net assets acquired is considered provisional and may be altered within 
one year of the acquisition date. 
 
Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying value of goodwill relating to the entity 
sold. 

(ii) Other intangible assets 

The Group has recognised intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination, being the 
fair value of service concessions acquired as at the date of acquisition in the operating subsidiaries.  
Fair values were determined using the income approach which discounts the expected future cash 
flows attributable to the service portion of the service concessions acquired at an appropriate rate to 
arrive at fair values. In determining the appropriate discount rate, regard is had to risk free rates and 
the specific risks of each project. These assets are being amortised over the life of the concessions 
concerned on a straight-line basis.  
 

(f) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
recognised impairment losses. Depreciation is provided on operating properties by estimating the 
depreciable amount of the relevant assets by equal annual instalments over the term of the respective 
concession (note 30). The assets’ residual values are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
balance sheet date. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if 
the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 
 

(g) Leases 

Assets leased out under finance leases are recognised as a receivable in the balance sheet at the present 
value of the lease payments. The difference between the gross receivable and the present value of the 
receivable is recognised as unearned finance income. Lease income is recognised over the term of the 
lease using the net investment method, which reflects a constant periodic rate of return. Payments made 
under operating lease are charged in the profit or loss on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. 
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2. Key accounting policies (continued) 

 
(h) Impairment 

(i) Financial assets 

Following the implementation of IFRS9, the group recognises impairment by calculating the expected 
credit losses (where applicable) using the simplified approach. 

(ii) Non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets are stated at cost and reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any evidence of impairment. If any such indication exists, 
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised through the profit or 
loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 
 
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its net selling price and its value in use. The value 
in use is determined as the net present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the 
asset, discounted using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  
 
An impairment loss is reviewed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
after the reversal does not exceed the amount that would have been determined, net of applicable 
depreciation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

(iii)  Non-controlling interests 

The interest of non-controlling shareholders is stated at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportion 
of the fair values of the assets and liabilities initially recognised. Subsequently, any losses applicable 
to the non-controlling shareholders’ interest in excess of the carrying value of the non-controlling 
shareholders’ interest are allocated against the interest of the parent, except to the extent that the non-
controlling shareholders have both a binding obligation and the ability to make an additional investment 
to cover the losses. 
 

(i) Revenue  

Services revenue comprises rental and service income which relate to the operating subsidiaries. Service 
income is determined according to the service contracts policy set out below. 
 
Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment has been established. A dividend which has 
already been recognised in the fair value of an associate investment is deducted from the carrying amount 
of the relevant investment.  
 
Fees and other operating income are recognised when the Group’s rights to receive payment have been 
established. Other income includes interest, fees and other operating income relating to investments.  
 
Interest income arising on debt investments in associates is recognised in the profit or loss as it accrues, 
using the effective interest rate of the instrument concerned as calculated at the acquisition date. The 
effective interest rate is that rate that exactly discounts estimated cash payments or receipts through the 
expected life of the financial instrument to the relevant asset’s carrying amount. Interest income includes 
the unwinding of the fair value adjustment on initial recognition of finance receivables.  
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2. Key accounting policies (continued) 
 

(j) Service contracts 

(i) Service concessions 

Service concessions are determined to give rise to contract assets to the extent that the Group, as 
operator, has an unconditional contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset from or at 
the direction of the grantor. The cash receivable in respect of the service concession is allocated to 
the component of the contact asset using the effective interest rate method, giving rise to interest 
income which is recognised through profit or loss and a residual cash amount to reflect repayment of 
the finance receivable. Subsequently, finance receivable interest income is accrued on a time basis, 
by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the finance receivable 
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.  
 
Service concessions are determined to be intangible assets to the extent that the Group, as operator, 
has a contractual right to charge users of the public services. The intangible asset is amortised to the 
estimated residual value over the remaining life of the service concession and tested each year for 
impairment.  
 

(ii) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. The consideration received is 
allocated by reference to the relative fair value of the services delivered, when the amounts are 
separately identifiable. In the operational stage of a contract, cash received in respect of the service 
concessions is allocated to services revenue based on its fair value, with the remainder being allocated 
between capital repayment and interest income using the effective interest rate method. 
 
Revenue is recognised as on-going operational services are performed and remuneration of the 
finance debtor, as discussed above.  The Group includes sales and purchase transactions relating to 
variations under the original contract where the benefits and risks are retained by the Group, within 
the financial statements as Services revenues and Services costs. 
 

(k) Income tax 

Income tax for the Group comprises both current and deferred tax. Current tax is the tax payable on the 
taxable income for the year. Deferred tax is provided in full using the balance sheet liability method on 
temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.  
  
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences 
when they reverse, based on the tax rates and laws that have been, or are substantively enacted at the 
reporting date. A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits 
will be available against which temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at 
each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit 
will be realised.  
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2. Key accounting policies (continued) 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities, and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority and the Company and its subsidiaries intend to settle their current tax assets and 
liabilities on a net basis. 

(l) Foreign currencies 

The Group’s presentational currency is pounds’ sterling. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated 
to the functional currency of the relevant Company at exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. 
Monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rate of exchange at the balance sheet date. Gains or 
losses on the translation of opening and closing net assets of subsidiary undertakings denominated in 
foreign currencies are recognised in the Statement of changes in equity. 

(m)  Services costs 

The underlying project assets will incur various lifecycle costs including repair, refurbishment, 
replacement and insurance over the anticipated project lifespan. These costs are accounted for in 
accordance with the underlying concession arrangement and are recognised as a profit or loss as they 
accrue. Other intangible assets are amortised over the life of the concession to Services costs. Other 
Services costs are accounted for on an accruals basis. 

(n) Administrative expenses and Finance costs 

All expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis. Investment management and administration fees, 
finance costs (including interest on long-term borrowings) and all other expenses are charged through the 
profit or loss.  

(o)  Pension 

The Group operates a defined contribution plan. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which 
the Group pays fixed contributions to an external fund. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations 
to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits 
relating to employee service in the current and prior years. The Group pays contributions to publicly 
administered pension plans on a voluntary basis. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit 
expenses when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash 
refund or reduction in the future payments is available. 

(p) Segmental reporting 

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group is engaged in a single segment of business, being to make 
and manage investments that are directly or indirectly related to infrastructure projects. The financial 
information used by management to allocate resources and manage the Group presents the business as 
a single segment. 

(q) Share-based payment scheme 

A group share-based payment arrangement was in operation which issued shares in Imagile Group 
Limited to individuals on behalf of the subsidiary company that employs those individuals. The cost of the 
repurchase of the shares from employees upon vesting conditions being met or a realisation event 
occurring has been borne by Semperian PPP Investment Partners Holdings Limited. Details of the 
settlement of the scheme are set out in note 23. 

(r) Investments in subsidiary undertakings 

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost less an appropriate provision to reflect any 
impairment in the value of the investments. Repayments of loans have been disclosed as disposals of 
fixed asset investments. Any other impairment of investments in subsidiary undertakings is reflected as 
impairment charges.  
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3. Critical accounting judgements and estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions in certain circumstances that affect reported amounts. Actual 
results may differ from these judgements, estimates and assumptions. Estimates and assumptions made 
that have caused material adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the current year 
and which have a significant risk of causing adjustments within the next financial year are outlined below.  

a) Investments at fair value through profit or loss  

Judgement: By virtue of the exemption provided by IAS 28.1, investments in associates are designated 
upon initial recognition to be accounted for at fair value through profit or loss. Judgement is required in 
assessing each acquisition to determine whether it should be accounted for as an associate or a 
subsidiary. 
 
Estimate: Fair values are determined using the income approach which discounts the expected cash flows 
at the appropriate rate. In determining the discount rate, regard is had to risk free rates, specific risks and 
the evidence of recent transactions.  
 
The carrying amount of associate investments would be an estimated £21.9m (2018: £13.7m) higher or 
£21.1m (2018: £12.8m) lower if the discount rate used in the cash flow analysis was 25 basis points lower 
or higher from that used in the fair value calculation. The weighted average discount rate for the portfolio 
as at 31 March 2019 was 7.25% (2018: 7.25%). 
 

b) Impairment of goodwill: (Estimate) 

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. The carrying amount of goodwill is dependent on the stage of 
completion of the underlying service concessions which have a finite life. The recoverable amounts of the 
net assets are determined based on discounted cash flow methodology. These calculations require the 
use of estimates, including projected future cash flows and other future events. In determining the discount 
rate, regard is given to risk free rates, specific risks and evidence of recent transactions. See note 12 for 
further information regarding impairment of goodwill. 

c) Derivatives (Estimate) 

Financial derivatives are included at fair value based on market information, expected forward interest 
rates, and expected RPI rates. Valuations are provided by an independent third party valuer. 

d) Contract Asset: (Estimate) 

The accounting for service concession contracts requires estimation of service margins, interest rates and 
associated amortisation profile which are based on the forecast results of the PFI contracts over the 
respective concession length. 
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4. Financial risk management 

The objective of the Group’s financial risk management is to manage and control the risk exposures of its 
investment portfolio. The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for overseeing the management of 
financial risks. The review and management of financial risks are performed by the Group, which has 
documented procedures designed to identify, monitor and manage the financial risks to which the Group 
is exposed. This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to financial risks, its objectives, 
policies and processes for managing risk and the Group’s management of its financial resources.  
 
The Group owns a portfolio of investments predominantly in the subordinated loan notes and ordinary 
equity of PPP companies. These companies are structured at the outset to minimise financial risks of 
acquiring and holding the investment. The Group primarily focuses its risk management on the direct 
financial risks of acquiring and holding the portfolios, but continues to monitor the indirect financial risks 
of the underlying projects through representation, where appropriate, on the Boards of the project 
companies and the receipt of regular financial and operational performance reports.  
 

(a) Interest rate risk 

The Group invests in subordinated loan notes of project companies, usually with fixed interest rate 
coupons. Where floating rate debt is owned, the primary risk is that the Group’s cash flows will be subject 
to variation depending upon changes to base interest rates. The portfolio’s cash flows are continually 
monitored and re-forecasted both over the near future (five-year time horizon) and the long-term (over the 
whole period of projects’ concessions) to analyse the cash flow returns from investments.  
 
The Group has made use of borrowings to finance the acquisition of investments and the forecasts are 
used to monitor the impact of changes in borrowing rates against cash flow returns from investments as 
increases in borrowing rates will reduce net interest margins.  
 
The Group’s policy is to ensure that interest rates are sufficiently hedged to protect the Group’s net interest 
margins from significant fluctuations when entering into material term borrowings. 
 
The Group has an indirect exposure to changes in interest rates through its investment in project 
companies, which are in part financed by senior debt. Senior debt financing of project companies is 
generally either through floating rate debt or fixed rate bonds. Where senior debt is floating rate, the 
projects typically have concession length hedging arrangements in place, which are monitored by the 
project companies’ managers, finance parties and boards of directors. Floating rate debt is hedged using 
interest rate swaps.  
 
The carrying amount of interest rate swaps would change by an estimated £59.6m (2018: £64.4m) if rates 
used in the fair value calculation were to differ by 50 basis points. 

(b) Inflation risk 

The Group’s project companies are generally structured so that contractual income and costs are either 
wholly or partially linked to specific inflation where possible to minimise the risks of a mismatch between 
income and costs due to movements in inflation indexes. The Group’s overall cash flows are estimated 
to partially vary with inflation. The effects of these inflation changes do not always immediately flow 
through to the Group’s cash flows, particularly where a project’s loan note debt carries a fixed coupon 
and the inflation change flows through by way of dividends. 
 
The carrying amount of inflation swaps would change by an estimated £37.9m (2018: £38.2m) if rates 
used in the fair value calculation were to differ by 50 basis points. 
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 

(c) Currency risk 

The projects in which the Group invests all conduct their business and pay interest, dividends and principal 
in pounds’ sterling, other than two investments, which conduct their business and pay interest, dividends 
and principal in Euros. The Group monitors its foreign exchange exposures using its near term and long 
term cash flow forecasts. Its policy is to use foreign exchange hedging to provide protection to the level 
of pounds’ sterling distributions that the Group aims to pay over the medium term, where considered 
appropriate. No sensitivity analysis is made as the Group’s exposure to currency risk is minimal. 
 

(d) Market risk  

Returns from the Group’s investments are affected by the price at which they are acquired. The value of 
these investments will be a function of the discounted value of their expected future cash flows, and as 
such will vary with, inter alia, movements in interest rates, market prices and the competition for such 
assets. 
 
(e) Capital management 

The capital structure of the Group consists of loans and borrowings, cash and cash equivalents and equity 
attributable to members of the Company, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings.  
 
The Board’s policy when managing capital is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders, benefits for other stakeholders and to sustain the 
future development of the business. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may 
issue new shares or raise medium/long term third party debt. Any changes will be considered in the light 
of the impact they have on shareholders’ return on their equity. Neither the Company nor any of its 
subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.  
 
There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.  
 

(f) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty of the Group will be unable or unwilling to meet a commitment 
that it has entered into with the Group. The Group’s direct counterparties are the project companies in 
which it makes investments. The Group’s near term cash flow forecasts are used to monitor the timing of 
cash receipts from project counterparties. Underlying the cash flow forecasts are project company cash 
flow models, which are regularly updated by project companies for the purposes of demonstrating the 
projects’ ability to pay interest and dividends based on a set of detailed assumptions. Many of the Group’s 
investment and subsidiary entities generally receive revenue from government departments, public sector 
or local authority clients. Therefore, a significant portion of the Group’s revenue arises from counterparties 
of good financial standing. 
 
The Group is also reliant on the projects’ subcontractors continuing to perform their service delivery 
obligations such that revenues to projects are not disrupted. The Group has a subcontractor counterparty 
monitoring procedure in place. The credit standing of subcontractors is reviewed and the risk of default 
estimated for each significant counterparty position. Monitoring is ongoing and period end positions are 
reported to the Board on a quarterly basis.  
 
No classes within trade and other receivables contain impaired assets. The maximum exposure to credit 
risk over financial assets is the carrying value of those assets in the balance sheet. As at 31 March 2019, 
the Group recorded overdue, but not impaired, balances of £2.2m (2018: £1.6m). Of these balances 
£1.5m (2018: £1.6m) is less than three months old and £0.3m (2018: £0.1m) is more than 12 months old.  
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 

(g) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient financial 
resources and liquidity to meet its liabilities when due. The Group’s activity is predominately funded by 
long term funding.  
 
The Group’s investments are generally in private companies in which there is no listed market and, 
therefore, such investment would take time to realise and there is no assurance that the valuations placed 
on the investments would be achieved from any such sale process.  
 
The Group’s investment companies have borrowings which rank senior to the Group’s own investments 
in the companies. The senior debt is structured such that, under normal operating conditions, it will be 
repaid within the expected life of the projects. Debt raised by the investment companies from third parties 
is without recourse to the Group.  
 
The Group’s investments may include obligations to meet future subscription amounts. These obligations 
will typically be supported by standby letters of credit, issued by the Group’s bankers in favour of the 
senior lenders to the investment companies. Such subscription obligations are met from the Group’s 
financial resources when they fall due.  
 
The Group has committed banking facilities at the individual project and group company level and these 
facilities are of sufficient size to meet the Group’s foreseeable funding requirement. Current banking 
facilities would only be utilised on a short-term bridging basis to be refinanced from long term funding. 
Alternative financing arrangements are kept under review for adoption if required. There are some 
undrawn, but committed, facilities at project level as disclosed in note 21.  There are no undrawn but 
committed facilities at a group company level. 
 
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities that will be settled on a net basis into relevant 
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity 
dates. The amounts in the table are the contracted undiscounted cash flows.  
 

 
31 March 2019 
£million  

Less than  
1 year  

Between 1  
and 2 
years  

Between 2  
and 5 years  

More than  
5 years  

Bank and other borrowings            145.1           158.3            489.1            1,834.0  
Trade and other payables 86.6              0.3  1.0 5.3  
Notes 22.1  22.6  71.3  82.5  
Listed bonds 28.5  27.3  84.1  263.6  
Financial derivatives 35.0 33.9 94.9 261.3 

 
 
31 March 2018 
£million  

Less than  
1 year  

Between 1  
and 2 
years  

Between 2  
and 5 years  

More than  
5 years  

Bank and other borrowings 136.0 146.1 448.7 1,826.3 
Trade and other payables 85.5 0.4 1.1 5.6 
Notes 21.0 21.9 70.0 108.0 
Listed bonds 26.8 27.8 85.7 282.9 
Financial derivatives 35.2 34.1 95.6 263.1 
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 

(h) Fair value estimation  

The following summarises the significant methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of 
financial instruments: 
 
Non-derivative financial instruments:  The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an 
active market is determined by using valuation techniques. The Group uses the income approach which 
discounts the expected cash flows attributable to each asset at an appropriate rate to arrive at fair values. 
In determining the discount rate, regard is had to risk free rates, the specific risks of each investment and 
the evidence of recent transactions.  
 
Derivative financial instruments:  The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is 
based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted market price used for financial 
assets held by the Group is the current bid price. Note 2 discloses the methods used in determining fair 
values on a specific asset/liability basis.  Where applicable, further information about the assumptions 
used in determining fair value is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.  

Group classification of financial instruments  

  
2019 

 
 2018 

 £million  £million  
Financial assets:    
Designated at fair value through profit or loss:   
      Associate investments 862.8 610.0 
      Financial derivatives  1.4 1.2 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 864.2 611.2 

   
Loans and other receivables at amortised cost:   
     Other investments 48.6 53.9 
     Net investment in finance lease 31.0 34.9 
     Trade and other receivables & contract assets 1,640.3 1,739.1 
     Cash and cash equivalents 318.5 313.1 
Financial assets at amortised cost 2,038.4 2,141.0 

   
Financial liabilities:    
Designated at fair value through profit or loss:   
     Financial derivatives (425.1) (428.0) 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (425.1) (428.0) 

   
Loans and other payables at amortised cost:   
     Trade and other payables (93.2) (92.5) 
     Loans and borrowings (2,692.2) (2,650.7) 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (2,785.4) (2,743.2) 
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4. Financial risk management (continued) 

(h) Fair value estimation (continued) 

Group - Fair value hierarchy 

The fair value hierarchy consists of the following three levels: 
 
� Level 1: unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
� Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly or indirectly 
� Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 

inputs). 
 

As at 31 March 2019 Level 1 
£million 

Level 2  
£million 

Level 3  
£million 

Total  
£million 

Associate equity and loan investments (note 15) - - 862.8 862.8 
Financial assets at fair value - - 862.8 862.8 
     
Financial derivatives at fair value (note 22)  - (423.7) - (423.7) 
Financial liabilities at fair value - (423.7) - (423.7) 

 
 

As at 31 March 2018 Level 1 
£million 

Level 2  
£million 

Level 3  
£million 

Total  
£million 

Associate equity and loan investments (note 15) - - 610.0 610.0 
Financial assets at fair value - - 610.0 610.0 
     
Financial derivatives at fair value (note 22)  - (426.8) - (426.8) 
Financial liabilities at fair value - (426.8) - (426.8) 

 
There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year. Reconciliations of Level 3 balances 
are disclosed in the relevant notes as indicated above. The effect of different economic assumptions on 
the fair value of the Level 3 assets is disclosed in note 3. 
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5.    Interest from investments 

 Year ended 
31 March 

2019 

Year ended  
31 March  

2018 
 £million  £million 
Interest from associate investments 13.1 12.4 
Interest from loan investments 3.4 3.7 
Interest from finance leases   2.1 2.5 

 18.6 18.6 
 
 

6. Income from and movement on associate investment s 

 Year ended 
31 March 

2019 

Year ended  
31 March  

2018 
   £million  £million 
Dividend income  19.5 20.6 
Fees and other operating income 18.8 18.1 
Gain on equity interest 
Movement on fair valuation (see note 15) 

- 
58.7 

3.5 
18.9 

 97.0 61.1 

 

 

7. Services costs 

 Year ended  
31 March 

2019 

Year ended  
31 March  

2018 
 £million  £million 
Services costs  (272.9) (260.9) 
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 12) (25.3) (24.3) 

 (298.2) (285.2) 
 
 

8.  Administrative expenses 

 Year ended 
31 March 

2019 

Year ended  
31 March  

2018 
 £million  £million 
Fees for the audit of the Group’s financial statements:   

- current year audit (0.7) (0.7) 
Exchange differences 1.4 (2.1) 
Management fees (1.2) (0.7) 
Depreciation (note 13) (4.4) (4.5) 
Employee expense (note 9) (27.6) (24.6) 
Other administrative expenses  (15.0) (19.9) 

 (47.5) (52.5) 
Non-audit services of £23,500 (2018: £95,000) were incurred with the group auditors in the year. 
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9. Employee expenses 

 Year ended 
31 March 

2019 

Year ended  
31 March  

2018 
Average number of persons employed by the Group:   

136 
113 

 Operations 
 Central Functions 

143 
120 

 263 249 

   
 £million  £million 
Employee expense included in administrative expenses:   
    Wages and salaries (19.6) (20.8) 
    Social security costs (1.6) (1.6) 
    Pension costs (0.8) (0.8) 
    Share-based payments (5.6) (1.4) 

 (27.6) (24.6) 
 

The Group contributes to the portable personal pension schemes of full time staff and these costs are 
charged to the group profit or loss as payable. 

Directors’ emoluments 

 Year ended 
31 March 

2019 

Year ended  
31 March  

2018 
   
The average number of directors employed by the Group 3 3 
   
Aggregate emoluments and benefits: £million  £million 
    Non-Executive and Chairman fees (0.2) (0.3) 
    Included in employee expense (1.7) (1.5) 

 (1.9) (1.8) 

The key management personnel of the Group consist of the directors. The directors participated in the 
share based payment scheme (note 23). 
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10. Net finance costs 

 Year ended 
31 March 

2019 

Year ended  
31 March  

2018 
 £million  £million 

Restated 
Finance costs:   
    Interest on bank loans and overdrafts (166.5) (190.3) 
    Other interest payable and finance costs  (3.3) (5.3) 
 (169.8) (195.6) 
   
Finance income:   
    Interest on bank deposits  1.4 0.9 
 1.4 0.9 
   
Change in fair value of financial derivatives:   
    Interest rate swaps  11.7 138.3 
    Inflation rate swaps (0.1) 3.5 
    
 11.6 141.8 
   
Net finance costs  (156.8) (52.9) 
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11. Income tax  

11a. Income tax credit/(charge) 

 Year ended 
31 March 

2019 

Year ended  
31 March 

2018  
 £million £million 

 
Current tax:    
UK corporation tax    
    Current year tax on profit for the year (10.8) (6.9) 
    Adjustments in respect of prior years 0.3 0.3 
Total current tax  (10.5) (6.6) 
   

Deferred tax:   

    Origination and reversal of temporary differences 13.2 (8.8) 
    Re-measurement of deferred tax due to rate change 
    Adjustments in respect of prior years 

(1.4)  
0.2 

0.2 
4.8 

Total deferred tax  12.0 (3.8) 

   
Income tax credit / (charge)  1.5 (10.4) 

 
Subsidiaries in the UK have provided for UK corporation tax at 19% (2018: 19%) and deferred tax at the 
rate of 17% (2018: 17%).  Overseas subsidiaries provided for taxation at the appropriate rates in the 
countries in which they operate.   
 
The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the 
weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the Group as follows: 
 

11b. Reconciliation of effective tax rate 

 Year ended 
31 March 

2019 

Year ended  
31 March 

2018  
 £million  £million 

restated 
 

Profit before taxation 67.3 127.4 
   
Tax at 19% (2018: 19%) (12.8) (24.2) 
   
Losses for which no deferred income tax asset was recognised 1.2 - 
Dividend income not taxable 3.5 3.3 
Negative goodwill not taxable - 0.7 
Other income or expenses not deductible for tax 10.5 5.0 
Re-measurement of deferred tax due to rate change (1.4) 0.2 
Adjustments in respect of prior years 0.5 5.1 
Group provision - (0.5) 
Total income tax credit/(charge) for the year  1.5 (10.4) 
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11c. Tax relating to items recognised in other comp rehensive income  

 Year ended 
31 March 

2019 

Year ended  
31 March 

2018  
 £million  £million 

restated 
 

Deferred tax on financial derivatives – credit adjustment 1.5 2.2 

 

 

11d. Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributed to the following: 
 

 
Group  
restated 

 
Finance 

receivables 
£million 

 
Finance 

leases 
£million 

 
 

PP&E 
£million 

 
Intangible 

assets 
£million 

 
Loans & 

borrowings 
£million 

Other 
financial 
liabilities 
£million 

 
Tax 

losses 
£million 

 
 
 

Group 
Provision 

£million 

 
 

Total 
£million 

At 31 March 2017 (227.9)  (0.5) (6.7) (50.0) 1.4 90.6 36.4 (7.8) (164.5) 
Adjustment in respect of 
prior year 1.7 0.1 (0.2) 0.1 (0.1) 2.8 (0.1) 0.5 4.8 

Current year Credit / 
(Charge) to profit or loss 
(restated) 

12.8 0.1 0.3 4.1 (0.5) (24.1) (0.8) (0.5) (8.6) 

Current year Credit / 
(Charge) to Other 
Comprehensive Income 
(restated) 

- - - - - 2.2 - - 2.2 

Acquisitions (8.4) - - (9.4) - 1.0 - - (16.8) 
Other - - - - - - - - - 

At 31 March 2018  (221.8) (0.3) (6.6) (55.2) 0.8 72.5 35.5 
 

(7.8) (182.9) 

Deferred tax assets - - - - 0.8 72.5 35.5 - 108.8 

Deferred tax liabilities (221.8) (0.3) (6.6) (55.2) - - - (7.8) (291.7) 

At 31 March 2018  (221.8) (0.3) (6.6) (55.2) 0.8 72.5 35.5 
 

(7.8) (182.9) 

Current year Credit / 
(Charge) to profit or loss 11.7 0.1 0.5 5.9 (0.1) (2.0) (4.1) - 12.0 

Current year Credit / 
(Charge) to Other 
Comprehensive Income 

- - - - - 1.5 - - 1.5 

Other 0.1 - - - - - 0.1 - 0.2 
At 31 March 2019  (210.0) (0.2) (6.1) (49.3) 0.7 72.0 31.5 (7.8) (169.2) 
Deferred tax assets - - - - 0.7 72.0 31.5 - 104.2 

Deferred tax liabilities (210.0) (0.2) (6.1) (49.3) - - - (7.8) (273.4) 

At 31 March 2019  (210.0) (0.2) (6.1) (49.3) 0.7 72.0 31.5 (7.8) (169.2) 
          

          

 
The current tax charge will continue to be affected by timing differences, although these timing differences 
will have an opposite impact in the deferred tax charge so there will be no overall impact on the tax 
charge.  Changes to the UK corporation tax rates were substantively enacted as part of Finance Bill 2015 
(on 26 October 2015) and Finance Bill 2016 (on 7 September 2016). These include reductions to the main 
rate to reduce the rate to 19% from 1 April 2017 and to 17% from 1 April 2020. Deferred taxes at the 
balance sheet date have been measured using these enacted tax rates and reflected in these financial 
statements. 
 
Total deferred tax assets of £2.1m (2018: £0.9m) in respect of available tax losses amounting to £12.1m 
(2018: £5.4m) have not been recognised as at 31 March 2019.   
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12. Intangible assets 

 
 
 
Group  

 
 

Goodwill 
£million 

Other 
intangible 

assets  
£million 

 
 

Total  
£million 

Cost     
Balance as at 31 March 2017 211.1 484.9 696.0 
Additions  0.3 55.2 55.5 

Balance as at 31 March 2018 211.4 540.1 751.5 
Balance as at 31 March 201 9 211.4 540.1 751.5 
    
Accumulated impairment and amortisation     
Balance as at 31 March 2017 (1.9) (191.2) (193.1) 
Amortisation for the year - (24.3) (24.3) 
Balance as at 31 March 2018 (1.9) (215.5) (217.4) 
Amortisation for the year - (25.3) (25.3)  
Balance as at 31 March 201 9 (1.9) (240.8) (242.7) 
    
Carrying amounts     
At 31 March 2019 209.5 299.3 508.8 
    
At 31 March 2018 209.5 324.6 534.1 
 

The subsidiary investments of the Group are together considered to be a single cash-generating unit 
(“CGU”). The recoverable amount of the CGU is based on its value in use as determined by the discounted 
future cash flows of the investments through to their contract end dates (as per note 30).  This covers a 
period longer than five years from the balance sheet date, which the directors consider is appropriate 
given that these dates represent the known defined life of each of the cash flows. The cash flows are 
substantially fixed through contracts (subject to changes in RPI etc.). For the purposes of the annual 
impairment review of goodwill, a discount rate of 5.97% (2018: 6.07%) has been used to discount the 
cash flows of the operations, being the weighted average cost of capital determined by the Group. A long-
term growth rate in income of 3.26% (2018: 3.26%) has been used to estimate the growth in contract cash 
flows caused by RPI within the individual concession arrangements. 
 
In addition to growth and discount rates, other assumptions in determining the recoverable amount of 
goodwill include growth of facilities management costs and other operating costs, risks associated with 
lifecycle costs (often assumed by the operating sub-contractor), changes in tax rates and changes in 
senior, equity and subordinated debt funding. The latter is normally established at the outset of the project. 
 
Other intangible assets relate to customer contracts for operating subsidiary projects and are primarily 
attributable to the service portion of the project contracts. These intangible assets are amortised over the 
remaining life of the concessions concerned (ranging from between 5 and 19 years). Amortisation of 
£25.3m (2018: £24.3m) is included within services costs in the Statement of comprehensive income (see 
note 7).   
 
Sensitivity analysis around the assumptions has indicated that if the WACC discount rate taken at 5.97% 
increased by 50 basis points, goodwill would be closer to impairment by £83.0m (2018: £65.0m). In the 
event that an adverse movement to the WACC discount rate occurred, there would still be sufficient 
headroom (in excess of the above sensitivity) to support the carrying value of intangible assets. 
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13. Property, plant and equipment 

 
 
 
Group 

 
 

Operating 
properties 

£million 

Other 
property, 

plant & 
equipment  

£million 

 
 
 

Total  
£million 

Cost     
Balance as at 31 March 2017 103.3 3.0 106.3 
Additions 6.2 0.2 6.4 
Exchange movements 1.1 - 1.1 
Balance as at 31 March 2018 110.6 3.2 113.8 
Additions - 0.1 0.1 
Disposals (1.2) - (1.2) 
Exchange movements (0.9) - (0.9) 
Balance as at 31 March 2019  108.5 3.3 111.8 

    
    
Accumulated depreciation     
Balance as at 31 March 2017  (31.9) (2.2) (34.1) 
Depreciation for the year (4.3) (0.2) (4.5) 
Exchange movements (0.1) - (0.1) 
Balance as at 31 March 2018 (36.3) (2.4) (38.7) 
Depreciation for the year (4.1) (0.3) (4.4) 
Exchange movements 0.4 - 0.4 
Balance as at 31 March 2019  (40.0) (2.7) (42.7) 
    
Carrying amount     
At 31 March 2019 68.5 0.6 69.1 
    
At 31 March 2018 74.3 0.8 75.1 

 
Depreciation is provided on operating properties by estimating the depreciable amount of the relevant 
assets by equal annual instalments over the term of the respective concession. Depreciation is disclosed 
within administrative expenses in the Statement of comprehensive income (see note 8). 
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14. Net investment in finance leases 

  2019 2018 
Group  £million  £million 
Non-current    
Finance leases – gross receivables 32.8 39.2 
Unearned finance income (5.7) (7.8) 
 27.1 31.4 
Current    
Finance leases – gross receivables 6.0 5.9 
Unearned finance income (2.1) (2.4) 
 3.9 3.5 
   
Net investment in finance leases  31.0 34.9 
   
Gross receivables from finance leases    
Less than one year 6.0 5.9 
Between one and five years 23.9 21.1 
More than five years 8.9 18.1 
 38.8 45.1 
Unearned future finance income    
Less than one year (2.1) (2.4) 
Between one and five years (4.6) (5.9) 
More than five years (1.1) (1.9) 
 (7.8) (10.2) 
   
Net investment in finance leases  31.0 34.9 

 
The Group has leased out property under finance leases which terminate between 2024 and 2032 (2018: 
between 2024 and 2032). The fair value of the Group’s finance lease receivables approximate to their 
carrying amounts. 
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15. Associate investments 

 
 
Group  

Equity 
investments  

£million 

Debt 
investments 

£million 

 
Total  

£million 
Carrying amount at 31 March 2017 
Movement to subsidiary 

460.2 
(17.6) 

151.5 
(3.0) 

611.7 
(20.6) 

Movement on valuation (note 6) 17.6 1.3 18.9 
Carrying amount at 31 March 2018  460.2 149.8 610.0 
Acquisitions 169.7 24.4 194.1 
Movement on valuation (note 6) 60.4 (1.7) 58.7 
Carrying amount at 31 March 2019  690.3 172.5 862.8 

 
Fair market valuations of the associate investments have been carried out as at 31 March 2019. The 
valuation has been prepared using a discounted cash flow methodology, which is the PPP industry 
standard valuation methodology, and is considered by its directors to be the most appropriate valuation 
method. The weighted average discount rate used was 7.25% (2018: 7.25%), which is the market rate as 
determined by the Group. A 0.25% movement in this discount rate would have a £21.5m impact on the 
valuation. All investments in associates are held by intermediate holding companies. 
 
Details of investments at 31 March 2019 in which the Group held an interest are disclosed in note 31.   
 
 

16. Loan investments  

 
Group  

 2019 
£million  

2018 
£million 

Non-current:     
Carrying amount at beginning of year  53.9 57.9 
Repayments  (5.3) (4.0) 
Carrying amount at end of year   48.6 53.9 

 
Loan investments primarily consist of a 100% senior debt investment in Defence Training Services Limited 
of £45.0m (2018: £48.7m), which is repayable in monthly instalments which commenced on 31 July 2003 
and interest has been fixed through a fixed funding rate plus a margin and matures in 2029. The remaining 
balance represents loan notes that mature in 2028. 
 
The senior debt investment in Defence Training Services Limited bears interest between 7.25% and 
7.45% and is secured by way of an unlimited first fixed charge over its finance receivable asset.  
Furthermore, the terms of the finance agreement provide that the lender will seek repayment of the 
finance, as to both principal and interest, only to the extent that sufficient funds are generated by the 
specific asset financed and it will not seek recourse in any other form. 
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17. Investments in subsidiary undertakings 

Company Equity  
£million 

Loan stock  
£million 

 Total  
£million 

Carrying amount at 31 March 2018 1.0 498.8 499.8 
Loan stock issued - 118.8 118.8 
Carrying amount at 31 March 2019  1.0 617.6 618.6 

 
Loan stock consists of £464.1m (2018: £399.5m) unsecured variable funding notes and a £153.5m (2018: 
£99.3m) unsecured zero coupon loan, issued from Semperian PPP Investment Partners Group Limited. 
The unsecured variable funding notes are repayable in full by September 2037 and bear interest at 8.8%. 
The unsecured zero coupon loan is interest free and is repayable in full by December 2106.  
 
A list of the principal subsidiary undertakings owned by Group companies is included in Note 28. 
 
 

18. Trade and other receivables / Contract assets  

  
 

Group  
 2019 

£million  

 
 

Group 
 2018  

£million 
restated  

(note 2(c)) 

 
 

Company  
 2019 

£million  

 
 

Company 
 2018 

£million 

Current      
Trade receivables 19.1 15.7 - - 
Prepayments and accrued income 27.2 24.9 - - 
Other receivables - - 21.1 17.5 
Total trade and other receivables  46.3 40.6 21.1 17.5 

 
The Company’s other receivables of £21.1m (2018: £17.5m) represents accrued interest on interest 
bearing loan notes as disclosed under investments in subsidiary undertakings. 
 

Contract assets 
  

 
Group  
 2019 

£million  

 
 

Group 
 2018  

£million 

 
 

Company  
 2019 

£million  

 
 

Company 
 2018 

£million 
Opening balance 1,698.5 1,739.4 - - 
Financial asset interest 105.9  112.0 - - 
Repayments (210.4) (152.9) - - 
Closing Balance  1,594.0 1,698.5 - - 
     
Split:      
Current  74.8 58.9 - - 
Non-current 1,519.2 1,639.6 - - 

 
 
The carrying value of the Group’s current trade and other receivables approximates their fair value. The 
estimated fair value of non-current contract assets at 31 March 2019 is £1,803.9m (2018: £1,920.3m). 
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19. Cash and cash equivalents 

 Group  
 2019 

£million  

Group 
 2018 

£million 

Company  
 2019 

£million  

Company 
 2018 

£million 
Bank balances 220.9 213.0 - - 
Call deposits 97.6 100.1 - - 
Cash and cash equivalents  318.5 313.1 - - 

 
At the balance sheet date, £174.6m (2018: £176.7m) Group cash and cash equivalents were subject to 
contractual restrictions limiting cash usage as follows:   

 
    

Group  
 2019 

£million  

 
Group 
 2018 

£million 
Debt service reserves   48.7 49.4 
Lifecycle maintenance reserves   113.7 110.1 
Other restricted reserves   12.2 17.2 
Contractually restricted bank balances    174.6 176.7 
 
 

20. Trade and other payables 

  
Group  
 2019 

£million  

 
Group 
 2018 

£million 
restated 

 
Company  

 2019 
£million  

 
Company 

 2018 
£million 

Current      
Trade payables (22.0) (23.7) - - 
Accruals and deferred income (61.2) (56.4) - - 
Other payables (3.4) (5.4) (21.1) (17.5) 
 (86.6) (85.5) (21.1) (17.5) 
Non-current      
Accruals and deferred income (6.6) (7.0) - - 
     
Total trade and other payables  (93.2) (92.5) (21.1) (17.5) 

 
The carrying value of trade and other payables approximates their fair value. 
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21. Loans and borrowings  

 Group  
 2019 

£million  

Group 
 2018 

£million 

Company  
 2019 

£million  

Company 
 2018 

£million 
Current liabilities      
Bank borrowings (86.4) (80.7) - - 
Subordinated debt  (0.2) (0.4) - - 
Secured notes (19.5) (18.4) - - 
Secured index linked bonds (18.2) (16.1) - - 
Other Loans (1.4) - - - 
Interest accrual (27.6) (23.8) - - 
 (153.3) (139.4) - - 
Non-current liabilities      
Bank borrowings (1,480.6) (1,506.6) - - 
Subordinated debt (592.0) (511.8) (579.5) (498.8) 
Secured notes (154.8) (174.3) - - 
Secured index linked bonds (304.2) (318.6) - - 
Other Loans (7.3) - - - 
 (2,538.9) (2,511.3) (579.5) (498.8) 
     
Total loans and borrowings  (2,692.2) (2,650.7) (579.5) (498.8) 

Secured index linked bonds bear interest ranging from 2.87% to 3.92% (2018: 2.87% to 3.92%) and 
mature from 2027 to 2036 (2018: 2027 to 2036). 

The terms and conditions of outstanding loans with fixed and floating rates were as follows: 

 
 

    

Group 
 
 
31 March 2019 

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate 

Average 
number 
of years 

to 
maturity 

 
 

Carrying 
amount 
£million 

 
 
 

Fair value 
£million 

Secured bank and other borrowings 2.50% 13.0 (1,575.7) (1,575.7) 
Secured notes  1.48% 31.3 (174.3) (174.3) 
Secured index linked bonds 3.19% 14.2 (322.4) (362.9) 
Secured subordinated debt 11.41% 12.9 (3.9) (3.9) 
Unsecured subordinated debt 5.85% 32.1 (588.3) (588.3) 
   (2,664.6) (2,705.1) 
 

     
Group 
 
 
31 March 2018 

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate 

Average 
number 
of years 

to 
maturity 

 
 

Carrying 
amount 
£million 

 
 
 

Fair value 
£million 

Secured bank and other borrowings 2.47% 13.6 (1,587.3) (1,587.3) 
Secured notes  1.36% 32.3 (192.7) (192.7) 
Secured index linked bonds 3.19% 15.0 (334.7) (361.7) 
Secured subordinated debt 11.28% 14.0 (4.0) (4.0) 
Unsecured subordinated debt 5.86% 33.1 (508.2) (508.2) 
   (2,626.9) (2,653.9) 

 
All Group borrowings are denominated in pounds’ sterling; except for £61.1m (2018: £63.4m) Euro 
secured bank borrowings. Bank borrowings are secured by fixed and floating charges over the respective 
subsidiary companies’ assets. 
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21.  Loans and borrowings (continued) 
 
If not otherwise redeemed, the secured notes will be redeemed at their principal amount outstanding on 
the interest payment date falling in 2050. The notes are secured by fixed and floating charges over the 
assets of various subsidiary undertakings. 
 
The bonds are secured by fixed and floating charges over the assets of the respective subsidiary 
company. Interest and indexation of £15.5m (2018: £13.0m) was charged to the Statement of 
comprehensive income in respect of secured index linked bonds. 
 

Company 
 
 
 
31 March  2019 

 Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate  

Average 
number of 

years to 
maturity  

 
 

Carrying 
amount  
£million  

Unsecured variable funding notes  8.03% 21.5 (464.1) 
Unsecured zero coupon loan facility  Nil  87.8 (115.4) 
    (579.5) 
31 March 2018     
Unsecured variable funding notes  8.03% 19.5 (399.5) 
Unsecured zero coupon loan facility  Nil 88.8 (99.3) 
    (498.8) 

 
There are no material differences between the carrying value and fair value of Company borrowings as 
at 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2019. 

 
The Group has the following committed but undrawn borrowing facilities within projects at 31 March 2019:  

 
Floating rate: 
 

   2019 
£million  

2018 
£million 

Secured      
- expiring within two to five years   (2.7) - 
- expiring after more than five years   (39.3) (42.0) 
Total undrawn borrowing facilities    (42.0) (42.0) 
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22. Derivative financial instruments 

 
 
Group  

2019 
£million  

2018 
£million 

Non-current assets    
Interest rate and inflation swaps 1.4 1.2 
   
Non-current liabilities    
Interest rate and inflation swaps (425.1) (428.0) 
   
Total financial derivatives  (423.7) (426.8) 

 
Financial instruments have been fair valued in accordance with Note 2(d). The gain on fair valuation of 
interest rate swaps (pre credit adjustment) of £11.7m  (2018: £138.3m gain) and the loss on fair valuation 
of inflation rate swaps (pre credit adjustment) of £0.1m (2018: £3.5m gain) for the year ended 31 March 
2019 is disclosed within finance costs (see Note 10).  
 
In order to manage exposure to movements in interest rates, project companies financed by floating rate 
debt swap their floating rate exposure for fixed rates using interest rate swaps. The notional amount of 
the outstanding interest rate swap contracts at 31 March 2019 was £1,600.9m (2018: £1,692.7m). As at 
31 March 2019, the fixed interest rates on interest rate swaps range from 1.65% to 8.29% (2018: 1.65% 
to 8.29%) and maturities range from 1 to 18 years (2018: 2 to 19 years). 
 
In order to manage exposure to movements in the Retail Price Index (“RPI”), project companies with 
service income linked to RPI swap a part of their variable RPI exposure for fixed RPI rates using RPI 
swaps. The notional amount of the outstanding inflation rate swap contracts at 31 March 2019 was £8.0m 
(2018: £8.0m). As at 31 March 2019, the fixed RPI on the inflation swaps range from 2.13% to 3.05 % 
(2018: 2.13% to 3.05%) and the maturities range from 6 to 17 years (2018: 7 to 18 years). 
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23. Provisions for liabilities 

 
Company and Group 

Share based 
payments provisions  

£million  
  
At 1 April 2018 (18.0) 
Additions dealt with in profit or loss 
Cash Settled 
Converted to loans 

(4.9) 
13.6 
9.3 

At 31 March 201 9 - 
 

On 17 June 2015, a share based payment scheme was introduced where employees of Group subsidiary 
companies were issued the Ordinary “B” Shares in Imagile Group Limited (Formerly Semperian (Holdings) 
Limited). This arrangement constitutes a cash settled share based payment transaction whereby the 
Company receives services from the employees in exchange for the Ordinary “B” Shares. The cost of the 
repurchase of the shares from employees upon vesting conditions being met or a realisation event 
occurring will be borne by Semperian PPP Investment Partners Holdings Limited. There were 9,800 “B” 
shares issued with a nominal value of £0.10.  
 
The company held an option to call the shares. On 29 March 2018 the option was exercised at an agreed 
valuation of £2,450 per share, £13.6m to be settled in the form of cash in April 2018 and £9.3m to be 
received in the form of Loan Notes to be settled at various periods up to 10 years from April 2018. £1.1m 
was foregone from individuals retiring. 
 
This arrangement has been accounted for as a modification of the original scheme. 
 
Loans outstanding with management at 31 March 2019 are disclosed within Loans and borrowings: 
 

Company and Group Manager loans 
disclosed within 

Loans and 
Borrowings  

£million  
  
At 1 April 2018  - 
Conversion of share based payment provisions to loans 
Loans issued*  
Repayments 
Accrued interest 

9.3 
0.8 

(2.1) 
0.7 

At 31 March 2019  8.7 
 
*A further £0.8m of loans were issued to management on equal terms to the above in relation to a shadow 
scheme, representing conversion of previously accrued bonus provision. 
 
The total share-based payment charge in the year totalled £5.6m inclusive of accrued interest. £2.7m of 
which was in relation to key management personnel.  
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24. Acquisitions  

On 26 June 2018 the group acquired a 9.3% equity stake in Cory TopCo Limited, holder of Cory Riverside 
Energy (a recycling, resource management and energy recovery company). This holding increased to 
11.32% in October 2018. Consideration totalled £126.8m. 
 
On 18th September 2018 the group acquired a 50% stake in Consort Healthcare (Fife) Holdings Limited 
(Fife Hospital). The acquisitions consisted of a mixture of debt and equity for consideration totalling 
£43.1m. 
 
On 14th December 2018 the group acquired an 80% stake in Holyrood Student Accommodation Holdings 
Limited (Edinburgh University Student Accommodation). The acquisitions consisted of a mixture of debt 
and equity for consideration totalling £24.2m. 
In funding these acquisitions the group raised additional funds from the group’s investors totalling 
£132.4m and external senior debt of £62.5m.  
 
 

25. Ordinary share capital 

 2019 
£million  

2018 
£million 

   
Authorised, a llotted and called up    
116,177,700 (2018: 100,000,000) Ordinary shares of £0.01 each 1.2 1.0 

 
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are 
entitled to one vote per share on a poll at meetings of the Company. 
 

Share premium 

 2019 
£million  

2018 
£million 

   
Share premium 51.5 - 

 
In funding acquisitions, the group raised additional funds from the group’s investors totalling £132.4m. 
£51.7m of this was raised through the issue of share capital at a premium.  
 
 
26. Related party transactions  

The following information is provided in accordance with IAS 24 – ‘Related Party Disclosures’ as being 
transactions with related parties for the year. 
 
The carrying amount of investments in associates at fair value through profit or loss in the balance sheet 
at 31 March 2019 was £862.8m (2018: £610.0m) as shown in note 15.  
 
Amounts received from associates at fair value through profit or loss during the year are disclosed in note 
6. 
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27. Guarantees and other commitments     

As at 31 March 2019 the Group had commitments to the value of £6.5m (2018: £6.6m).  
 
The Group has issued letters of credit to cover individual obligations and guarantees. Details of the 
obligations and guarantees of the Group are shown below: 
 

(i) A guarantee to cover the debt service reserve obligation to the value of £0.5m (2018: £0.6m) on the 
Gloucestershire Royal Hospital concession. 

(ii) Guarantees to cover the debt service reserve obligation to the value of £6.0m (2018: £6.0m) on the 
A1 Road concession. 

 

28. Principal subsidiary undertakings 

  Ownership % Ownership % 

Name Principal activity 31 March 2019 31 March 2018 

Semperian PPP Investment Partners Group Limited Holding company 100% 100% 

Semperian PPP Investment Partners Limited Holding company 100% 100% 

 
The registered office for the companies shown above is Fourth Floor, 1 Gresham Street, London, EC2V 
7BX. 
 
Semperian PPP Investment Partners Group Limited is directly held by Semperian PPP Investment 
Partners Holdings Limited. Shares in the other subsidiaries are held either directly or through intermediate 
holding companies by Semperian PPP Investment Partners Group Limited.  
 
Semperian PPP Investment Partners Limited’s principal activity is to make and manage investments that 
are directly or indirectly related to infrastructure projects.  
 
All principal subsidiary undertakings have been included in the consolidation and have a 31 March 
reporting date. All subsidiary undertakings listed above are registered and operate in the United Kingdom.  
 
 

29. Ultimate parent undertaking 

The Company does not have an immediate parent undertaking or an ultimate controlling party at 31 March 
2019. 
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30. Service concession arrangements  

The Group has service concession arrangements in place in several sectors including, but not limited to, 
health, education, accommodation, secured accommodation, utilities and transport. The concessions vary 
on the obligations required but typically require the financing and operation of an asset during the 
concession period. All projects are fully operational. 
 
The rights of both the concession grantor and the concession operator are stated within the specific 
project agreement. The standard rights of the grantor to terminate the project include poor performance 
and in the event of force majeure. The operator’s rights to terminate include the failure of the provider to 
make payment under the agreement, a material breach of contract and relevant changes of law which 
would render it impossible for the service company to fulfil its requirements. The service concession 
arrangements of the Group’s subsidiary investments are disclosed below.  
 

Project  Short description of concession arrangements  
Contract 
end date  

Contract 
term in 
years  

Agecroft Properties 
Leasing of commercial properties to Her Majesty’s Principal Secretary of 
State for the Home Department. 2025 26 

Avon & Wiltshire 
Community Hospital 

Operating and maintaining six mental health facilities centres for Avon & 
Wiltshire Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust. 2036 30 

Baglan Moor 
Hospital 

Commissioning and maintaining an acute general hospital and providing 
non-clinical services for Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University NHS Trust. 2030 30 

Berlin Embassy Operating and maintaining the British Embassy in Berlin. 2030 32 

Bexley Community 
Hospital 

Operating and maintaining six mental health facilities centres for Oxleas 
NHS Foundation Trust and South London Healthcare NHS Trust. 2025 27 

Birmingham Hospital Operating and maintaining an ambulatory care centre for Sandwell and 
West Birmingham Hospitals NHS Trust. 2034 29 

Black Country 
Community Hospital 

Operating and maintaining a mental health facilities centre for Sandwell 
Mental Health and Social Care NHS Foundation Trust. 2025 25 

Bridlington Schools  Operating and maintaining six schools on behalf of The East Riding of 
Yorkshire Council. 2028 25 

Brighton Schools Operating and maintaining two schools for Brighton and Hove City Council. 2028 26 

Chiltern Securities: 
Abergavenny 

Operating and maintaining a day surgery and endoscopy primary care 
centre for Gwent Healthcare NHS Trust. 

2024 26 

Chiltern Securities: 
Marlborough 

Operating and maintaining a community hospital for Kennet and North 
Wiltshire Primary Care Trust. 

2035 30 

Chiltern Securities: 
Monmouth 

Operating and maintaining a community hospital for Gwent Healthcare NHS 
Trust. 

2031 25 

Chiltern Securities: 
North Kirklees 

Operating and maintaining five healthcare facilities centres for Kirklees 
Primary Care Trust. 

2035 30 

Chiltern Securities: 
Redruth Facilities 

Operating and maintaining a mental health facility hospital for Cornwall 
Partnership NHS Trust. 

2032 30 

Community Health 
Facilities Oxford 

Operating and maintaining a psychiatric unit for Oxfordshire and 
Buckinghamshire Mental Health Partnership NHS Trust. 

2024 25 

Dartford and 
Gravesham Hospital 

Operating and maintaining an acute general hospital for Dartford and 
Gravesham NHS Trust. 

2030 30 

Daventry Community 
Hospital 

Operating and maintaining a community hospital for Northamptonshire 
Teaching Primary Care Trust. 

2037 32 
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30. Service concession arrangements (continued)    

Project  Short description of concession arrangements  
Contract 
end date 

Contract 
term in 
years  

Debden School Operating and maintaining a school for Essex County Council. 2026 25 

Epping Community 
Hospital 

Operating and maintaining a community hospital for West Essex Primary 
Care Trust. 2035 30 

Essex & Herts 
Community Hospital 

Operating and maintaining a community hospital for East and North 
Hertfordshire Primary Care Trust. 2033 30 

Falkirk Schools Operating and maintaining five secondary schools for Falkirk Council. 2025 25 

Fazakerley Prison 
Services 

Operating and maintaining a prison for Her Majesty’s Principal Secretary 
of State for the Home Department. 2023 28 

Glasgow Parking Operating and maintaining car parking facilities at Glasgow Royal 
Infirmary Hospital. 2035 31 

Gravesham Community 
Hospital 

Operating and maintaining a community hospital for Dartford and 
Gravesend NHS Trust. 2036 30 

Haringey Schools Providing eight schools to London Borough of Haringey. 2025 25 

Hereford Hospital Operating and maintaining an acute care facility hospital for Hereford 
Hospitals NHS Trust. 

2029 30 

Hertford Community 
Hospital 

Operating and maintaining a community hospital for East and North 
Hertfordshire NHS Trust. 

2033 30 

HMP Thameside Financing, design, construction and subsequent operation of Belmarsh 
West Prison (renamed HMP Thameside) 

2037 25 

Kenton Schools Operating and maintaining a school as per the project agreement with the 
governing body of JFS and London Borough of Brent. 

2027 25 

Kingston University Operating and maintaining serviced student halls of residence for 
Kingston University Higher Education Corporation. 

2038 35 

Kirklees Schools  Operating and maintaining eighteen schools for Council of the Borough 
of Kirklees. 

2033 27 

Leicester Schools Operating and maintaining four schools for Leicester City Council. 2034 25 

Liskeard Community 
Hospital 

Operating and maintaining a community hospital for North and East 
Cornwall Primary Care Trust. 2033 30 

Liverpool Schools  Operating and maintaining sixteen schools for Liverpool City Council. 2031 30 

Lymington Community 
Hospital 

Operating and maintaining a community hospital for Hampshire Primary 
Care Trust. 2036 30 

Manchester Courts Operating and maintaining services accommodation for magistrates’ 
courts on behalf of Council of the City of Manchester 2029 28 

Milton Keynes STC Operating and maintaining a secure training centre for the Youth Justice 
Board. 2029 25 

Newcastle Estates 
Project 

Operating and maintaining four office accommodation sites for the 
Secretary of State for Social Security. 2031 25 

North Wiltshire 
Education  Operating and maintaining three schools for Wiltshire County Council. 2030 30 

North Yorkshire Fire 
and Rescue Services 

Operating and maintaining a fire station and fire training centre for North 
Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Authority. 2027 25 



Semperian PPP Investment Partners Holdings Limited 
 
Notes to the financial statements  
for the year ended 31 March 2019 (continued) 
 

 
Semperian Annual Report 2019  - 54 - 
    
  
 

 
 
 
 
 
Project  Short description of concession arrangements  

Contract 
end date  

Contract 
term in 
years  

Northants Community 
Hospital 

Operating and maintaining an adult acute mental illness inpatient and 
intensive care facilities hospital for Northamptonshire Healthcare NHS 
Trust. 2036 30 

Northgate 
Rehabilitation Centre 

Operating and maintaining a neurology rehabilitation hospital for 
Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Trust. 2037 32 

    

Onley Prison Services Operating and maintaining a prison for Her Majesty’s Principal Secretary 
of State for the Home Department 2026 25 

Redbridge Community 
Hospital 

Operating and maintaining a mental health facility hospital for North East 
London NHS Foundation Trust. 2032 30 

Richmond Schools Operating and maintaining six schools for London Borough of Richmond 
Upon Thames. 2032 30 

Riclab Leasing of a research laboratory to The East of Scotland Water Authority. 2023 15 

Royal Hull Hospital Operating and maintaining a maternity facility and an acute care facility 
hospital for Hull and East Yorkshire Hospitals NHS Trust. 

2033 30 

Salford Schools Operating and maintaining three special needs schools for Salford City 
Council. 

2030 26 

Sheffield Schools Operating and maintaining two schools for Sheffield City Council. 2030 26 

South Essex 
Community Hospital 

Operating and maintaining two mental health facilities centres for South 
Essex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust. 2033 30 

South Manchester 
Hospital 

Operating and maintaining a mental health care facility and an acute care 
facility for the Manchester University NHS Foundation Trust 2033 35 

Southern General 
Hospital 

Operating and maintaining a hospital for the elderly for South Glasgow 
University Hospitals NHS Trust. 2027 28 

St David’s Hospital 
Operating and maintaining a hospital (including servicing and 
maintenance of medical equipment) for Cardiff and District Community 
NHS Trust. 

2030 29 

Staffordshire Children’s 
Homes 

Operating and maintaining three children’s care homes for Staffordshire 
City Council. 

2027 22 

Stonehouse 
Community Hospital 

Operating and maintaining a community hospital for Kent and Medway 
NHS and Social Care Trust. 

2036 30 

Sunderland Schools Operating and maintaining a community learning centre for Council of the 
City of Sunderland. 

2027 25 

Swindon Hospital Operating and maintaining an acute general hospital for Swindon and 
Marlborough NHS Trust. 

2029 30 

Torbay Schools Operating and maintaining two schools for Council of the Borough of 
Torbay. 

2027 26 

Town Hospitals: North 
Staffordshire 

Operating and maintaining an acute psychiatric care facility hospital for 
North Staffordshire Combined Healthcare NHS Trust. 2029 30 

University College 
London: Cruciform 

Operating and maintaining a medical school for University College 
London. 2024 25 

West Mendip 
Community Hospital 

Operating and maintaining a community hospital for Somerset Primary 
Care Trust. 2035 30 

Wirral Schools  Operating and maintaining nine schools and a community learning centre 
for Metropolitan Borough of Wirral. 2031 25 

Wolverhampton 
Hospital 

Operating and maintaining a radiology facility unit for The Royal 
Wolverhampton Hospitals NHS Trust. 2032 30 
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31. Associate investments   

By virtue of the Company’s status as an investment fund in respect of associates a scope exemption has 
been applied under IAS 28.1 and investments in associates are elected upon initial recognition to be 
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Investments in associates are held by intermediate holding 
companies. Details at 31 March 2019 are as follows: 
 

 Ownership  

Associate undertaking  % 
  
Defence Training Services Limited  50% 

UK Highways M40 (Holdings) Limited  50% 

Healthcare Providers (Gloucester) Limited  50% 

United Healthcare (Bromley) Group Limited  50% 

Inspired Education (East Dunbartonshire) Holdings Limited  50% 

Road Management Services (Darrington) Holdings Limited  50% 

Albion Healthcare (Doncaster) Holdings Limited  50% 

Accommodation Services (Holdings) Limited  50%  

Endeavour SCH Holdings Limited  44% 

InspirED Education (South Lanarkshire) Holdings Limited  42.5% 

Albion Healthcare (Oxford) Holdings Limited  45.8% 

Celtic Roads Group (Dundalk) Limited * 33% 

ESP (Holdings) Limited  32.86% 

3ED Holdings Limited  31% 

D4E Mulberry (Holdings) Limited  30% 

Northlink M1 Limited * 27% 

Octagon Healthcare Group Limited  26.32% 

Wastewater Management Holdings Limited  25% 

East London Lift Investments Limited  41.6%  

Worcestershire Hospital SPC Holdings Limited  17% 

Ochre Solutions (Holdings) Limited  16.64%  

Lift Healthcare Investments Limited  14.15% 

Health Management (UCLH) Holdings Limited  40%  

UCLH Investors Limited 20% 

Consort Healthcare (Fife) Holdings Limited 50% 

Consort Healthcare (Fife) Intermediate Limited 50% 

Cory Topco Limited  11.32% 

Consort Healthcare (Fife) Intermediate Limited 80% 

* These companies are registered and operate in the  Republic of Ireland. 

The Group considers that it has significant influence over entities with holdings of less than 20% because 
it has significant influence over an intermediate parent undertaking of those entities. Except as noted all 
investments are registered and operate in the United Kingdom. 


